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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021

The directors present their Strategic report on the affairs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Group
financial statements consolidate the financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited (the "Company") and its
subsidiary undertekings ("Subsidiaries"} drawn up to 31 December 2021, Together these make up "Circle” ar the
"Group".

The Company was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 30 December 2016 and is a holding company within the
Group structure. On 8 January 2020 the Company completed its acquisition of GHG Holdings Limited, the holding
company of the BMI Healtheare group, therefore results of the Group are consolidated from this acquisition date.

In July 2021, there was a change in sharehalding ownership from 40 percent to 100 percent, resulting in the controlling
party of the Company being MH Services International (UK) Limited, with the ultimate parent being Centene
Corporation.

Principal activities

The Group is a provider of healtheare services in the UK, treating privately insured, seif-pay and NHS-funded patients at
hospitals across the UK. The Group also manages integrated care systems on behalf of commissioners. The Group’s
business stralegy is founded on the belief that the best way to deliver great patient care is to empawer the doctors, nurses
and all other staff whao work in our hospitals and clinics to put patients’ needs first.

Review of operating and business performance and key performance indicators (IKPTs)
The principal financial KPis for the Group are hospital caseload (activity), revenue and profit before tax

Operating performance and the Covid-19 pandemic

The operating performance of the Group during 2021 continued to be affected by the Covid-19 pandemic, with the Group
continging to support the wider UK health system in its response to the pandemic as well as returning to previous
cammissioning and operating arrangements with its major eustamers. The waves of infection ttom variants of the Covid
virus during the year were & source of shorter-term disruption and this has continued to a lesser degree in {he early
manths of 2022 compared to 2020.

The Group was in a central contract with NS England for the first three months of 2021, being paid for activity carried
out {subject to a minimum guarantee}, after which contracts reverted to arrangements with lacal commissioning groups
and NHS frusts. These arrangements included a continuation of provision of complex tteatments, including for cancer, ta
support the NHS's response to the pandemic.

The Group carried out 283,150 procedures during 2021 and received 1.6 mitlion outpatient visits, compared with
226,459 procedures and 1.2 million ouipatiert visits during 2020, with the year-on-year increase reflecting the lessened
cffect of Covid during the period and the build back of historical treatment pathways and patient flows. The Group saw a
substantial increase in demand for treatment from patients paying, for themselves, alongside increases in activity from
PMI and NHS-funded patients.

Financial performance
The movements in these KPIs are a result of the operating performance described above.

Revenue was £1,052 miflion for the year to 31 December 2021 (2020; £485 millicn),

Exceptional items of £11.6 million (2020: £41.1 million) recorded within operating profit relate ta the following itcms:
+ The Group incurred £4.1 million of costs in relation to the acquisition and integration of the group formerly known as
BMI Healtheare into the Group (2020: £4.5 mitlion).

+ The Group incurred £7.4 million of impairment charges following the assessment of asset impairment as at 31
Diecemher 2021 (2020: £36.6 million).

+ The Group incurred £0.1 million of other exceptional costs (2020: £nil).

The loss betore tax from contihuing operations was £51 4 million {2020 loss of £63.2 million).

The tax charge for the year was £1.3 million (2020: credit of £2.9 million). The resulting net loss after tax for the period
was £52 7 milfion {2020: net loss of £60.4 mitlion).
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Finaneial pasition

The Group's Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021 showed equity of £43 .4 million, compared with
equity of £96.0 million as at 31 December 2029, This decrease was a result of the loss after tax in the year as noted
above.

Outlook

The Group's farge hospital network, capacity and geographical footprint, including its intensive care facilities, means that
the Group is well placed to serve diagnastic, surgical and other treatment demand from patients, on private pay and NHS
pathways. This demand may however be disrupted in the event of resurgence of the pandemic, including amongst other
things Lthrough higher levels of patient cancellations. The cost of providing care has increased as a result of the pandemic
swith considerable pressure on clinical staffing availability and cost.

Capital prajects

The Group made a significant investment in its hospitals and technelogy during 2021, to increasc capacity io meet
current and future demand and to continue to provide excellence in patient treatment in safe environments. The Group
mvested a total of £86.0 million, including:

* a new standalone consuiting, diagnostic and treatment centre in Glasgow
« modular theatre capacity in hospifals in Nottingham and Blackburn to deliver rapid increases in capacity o support

patient needg in these areas
+ installation of major imaging equipment across the estate and the purchase of 5 mabite MR and CT scaancrs to enable

flexible deployment to areas of highest diagnostic need
« investment in medical technology to promate excellence in patient treatment, including surgical robatics, and replacing

and upgrading clinical equipment across the estate
* significant enhancements to the fabric of many hospitals to ensure excellent patient exparience, including major

refurbisltment and reconfigurations at five sites.

Financing and treasmry ¢ransactions

The Group entered into senior lending facilities in January 2020 to enable the acquisition of GHG Holdings Limited.
These senior facilities agreements {"SFA") required the Group to comply with ceriain financial covenants. During the
year to 31 December 2021 the S¥A included 2 senior term loan of £178 million, and a super senior term loan of £20
wmillion, a revalving credit facility of £30 million (the "RCF") and a capex faciiity of £50 million, of which £20 million
was drawn. Furiher details are given in the Going Concern assessmenl elsewdere in this report.

In May 2022, this debt facility was extinguished and refinanced with a revolving eredit facility of £250 militon provided
by a group of five banks. An amount of £180 million was drawn down under the facility at that time. Further details are
given in note 34 of the consclidated financial statements.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Principal risks 2nd uncerfainties

The Companies Act 2006 requires all companies to disclose and discuss the principal risks and uncertainties that they
face which, in most cases, are narmal business risks. The Group manages risks through its committee structure, including
governance commiiftees, and through the use of u regutarly updated and reviewed risk register, and risk is discussed and
actinned on a regular basis by the directors.

The Group’s activities expose it to a number of non-financial risks including political risk, reputational risk and cyber
risk. The Group's activities also expose it to a nunber of financial risks, including interest rate rigk, credit risk, cash flow
risk and liquidity risk. Any use of financial derivatives to manage Lhese risks is governed by the group’s policies
approved by the Board of directors, which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives to manage these
risks. The Group does uot use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Enterprise visk identification and management

Risk is an unavoidable element of doing business. The Group’s risk management systems aim to provide assurance to the
Board of directors regarding the effectiveness of the Group's ability to manage risk. This is managed via the Governance
Assurance Framework and the Board Assurance Framework, under which matters of significance and impacl are
reviewed by the Integrated Governance Committee (“IGC"), Operations Board, and the Audit and Risk Committee
("ARC").

The following provides an overview of the principal business risk factors facing the Group, along with a description,
where relevant, of the mitigating actions in place.

Adequacy of insurance scope and coverage

The Group may be subject to litigation for medical claims or may be liable for damages which may not be covered by its
insurance poiicies. This liability could lead to financial exposure for claims not covered by the insurance policies, or to
an increase in insurance premiunts impacting future financial periods. Regular reviews are conducted with the Group's
insurance brokers to ensure sufficient levels of cover are maintained across the Group. Further, frequent communication
with the clinical and operational functions are held to ensure a robust pracess for recording, investigating and resolving
incidents.

Clinical risk

As with al! hospital providers, clinical quality risk {s a major consideration. The Group has centrally managed clinical
governance struciure which is led by the Group's Chief Medical Officer whe is a director of the Company. This structure
includes senior staff across the aperational, clinical and central support teams. ¥ach hespital has its own local govemance
structure, while a team of ¢linical care quality specialists is dedicated to developing up to date and consistent clinical and
operational policies across all sites. Local governance committees work to a rigorous assurance framewoerk, manage day
to day clinical risks through a risk register, provide appropriate training to staff and consultants, and report their findings
to the Group’s [ntegrated Governance Commitiee {"IGC") which is chaired by the Group’s Clinical Chairman and an
independent Board Director. The 1GC in wm provides regalar reports to the boards of the relevant Group companies,
including the Company, facilitating ward-to-Board assurance.

Reputational risk

Reputational risk associated with poor clinical outcomes or patient satisfaction is mitigated by the focus on providing
high quality care at the Group's facilities and constanily seeking to improve clinical services through the activities of the
IGC and related assurance reviews,
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Contract and price risk

Private medical insurance ("PMI"): the Group carries out considerable activity under a small number of cantracls with the
major private medical insurers, which are subject to periodic renegotiaiion as to the access of insurers’ members to the
Group's facilities and to the price of services. Changes to or the ending of any of these contracts, or to pricing within
them, could affert the levals nfactivity or profitability of the Group. To mitigate these risks, the Group seeks to maintain
good relationships with the private medical insurers, to contract on medium-term arrangements and te agree pricing
which takes into account potential increases in the Groug's own cost base aver time.

NHS: the Group carries out work for the NHS in Fngland under standard contracts with clinical commissioning groups
{using the electronic referral service), Jocal contracts with WHS Trusts and oceasionally (as during the pandemic through
to carly 202E) directly with central NHS arganisations. The nature of these contracts and the consequent aceess of NHS
patients to the Group's facilities may be subject to change in the future. In general, the Group is paid the standard NHS
tariff for the treatment it carries out, so is subject to the uncertainty of future tariff changes which are determined
centratly by the NHS. The Group aims to mitigate these risks by acting as a reliable partner to NiIS commissioners and
caonsistently providing high quality services to N1IS-funded patients in a cost-effective manner.

PMI concentration

The Graup is exposed to a highly concentrated PMI market, whereby the majority of PMI patient volumes come via the
tep four to five insurers, which could resuit in unfavourable terms when contracts with these PMI companies are due for
renewal, especially in the current cost pressures. The Group manages this risk through active account management, and
demanstrating imprpovement across the hospital network whether that is through technology and clinical equipment
investment, or increase scope of services offered to patients.

Datua protection amd cyber risk

The Group is subject to data protection and eyber risk from cybercrime, IT systems failure and threats to data protection,
including data theft. The Group manages these risks through regular meetings of its Information Governance Commitiee,
which has accountability for quality and safety of information and technology systems, assessing risk and performance,
making improvement recommendations and advising the Information Governance Commitiee and Board. The Group
also employs data protection and infarmation security officers to oversee rejevant risks, and carries out periodic testing of
certain risks as part of its overall assurance programime. Further, the Group has in place cyber insurance cover, covering a
number of the first-party and third-party financial and reputational costs.

Gavernment policy and regulatory risk

The provision and reguiation of healthcare in the UK, including that by the independent sectar, is the subject of periodic
review by government and regulatory bodies, New regulations, and funding arrangements, may be introduced in the
future which could have an adverse effect on demand for the Group's services {from different payor groups}, its
operational costs and the nature and cost of regulatory compliance

Workforce avatiability visk

There is & shortage of nurses and healthcare siaff across the UK and averseas, which has led to an increased usage of
agency labour. In the short term, while activity is returning to normal levels, the Company can utilise increased agency
staff to tnitigate this shortage. However, in the medium to long term, this will impact an profitability and would not be
sustainable. Across the Group we are exploring various aptions to attract new talent to the Group including the use of
overseas nurses, or to reduce slaff turmaver via improved staft engagement.

{
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic repott
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Principal visks and uncertainties (continued}

Supply ehain availabiiity risk

The ongeing impact of Brexit and the Covid pandemic has resulted in a risk of shartages of varicus companents wtilised
by the Group in jts operations. This risk has been managed via the combination of longer contracted terms with suppliers
to safeguard against iarge price changes, as well as a change in warehousing and logistics provider that has given the
Group beter and increased capacity to hold compenents with long replacement lead times.

Inflntion visk

Given the glabal economic conditions, and political uncertainty in Europe, there is an increased risk of higher levels of
inflation, particufarly in energy costs, with consequent additional pressure on staffcosts. The impact on the Group may
be an increase in direct costs for goods and services, for which not all can he covered by increased pricing. To mitigate
ehis risk, where possible, the Company enters inta lang term purchase agreements to protect and Jimit against the fuil
effect of cast inflation. The large majority of the Group's lcases include a cap on the annual increases. Further, custoner
prices are heing reasonably increased where possible fo reflect the increase in costs.

Interest rate risj

The Rank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee has announced a series of interest rate rises during 2022 and further
rate rises are Widely expected. Interes an the Circle Group's new £250 million revolving credit facility is variable based
on the Sterling Overnight Index Average rate (SONIA) and so has exposed to changes in UK interest rates. Based on the
current drawn amaunt under the facility is £180 million, a 10G basis point increase in SONIA would result in a £1.3
miflion inerease in the Circle Group’s annual interest cost.

Credit risk

The Group's pringipal tinancial assets are bank halances and cash, trade and other receivables, and investments.

The Group's credit risk is primarily atibutable Lo its trade receivables. This is managed by regular monitoring of existing
customer accounts and credit checks o new customers before credit is provided, The amounts presented in the Statement
of Financial Position are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made when there is
an identified loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of cash
flows.

Cash _flow and {jguidity risk

In the ordinary course of business, in arder to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient tunds are available for ongoing
operations and future developments, the Group uses a mixture of long-term and short-term debt facilities. The Group
manages tiquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing
tucilities are Majntained to cover any short-term liquidity requirements.

The maturity of the debt facilities existing as at 31 December 2021 are detailed in note 19.

Environmenial and climate change risk

The Circle Group’s energy and carbon reporting, as well as its approach to environmental management, is disclesed in
the Directors’ report on pages 12 and 13. The Directors have considered broader impacts of climate change and the
potential impacts on the business. Other than those matters disclosed on pages 12 and 13 of the Dircctors” refating
congideration of the environmental impact of capital programmes, the Directors consider that climate change risk would
not have a material imbact on the operating model of performance of the business.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Corporate Governance Statement (Section 172(1))

Under seetion 172 of the Companies Act 2006, directors of a company have a duty to promote the success of the
company. Specifically, it requires Lhe ditecior of a company to act in the way he or she considers, in good faith, wouid
most likely promote the success of the company (or the benefit of its members as a whole. [n performing their dulies
under section 172, the Board of directors ("Board") of the Company have had regard to the matters set oul in sectien
172(1) as follows:

a)  the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

The Board has set long term strategic objectives for the Company facused on:

= clinical quality, patient expericnce and market lcading reputation;

+ attracting and retaining the best peaple;

+ investment in infrastrueture by impraving the enviraninent for patients and staff and capabilities;
« digital transformation to enable improved patient pathways, propasitions and efficiency; and

» business growth.

These pillars form the basis of a five-year plan which is monitored and updated periodicatly by the Board. The
strategy and plan supperis decision-making around capital investment and allows the board to forecast funding
requitements, debt capacity and financing options that are required Lo deliver this, As described elsewhere in this
repart, the debt facilities in place support the Company’s investment plaos.

The engagement with key stakeholders is described in sections b) to f) betew and this forms a key part of the
decision making process of the Board and the commitiees of the Board in determining the future direction and
pelicies for the Company.

In developing the strategy, the Board also consider external factors such as the political, economic, regulatory, and
competitive environmen,

b)  the interests of the company's emplayces
The Boeard understand the importance of the Group’s emptovees to quality of carc provided to patients, and so the
fong-term success of the business.

‘There is regular engagement with employees through an Employee Voice Forum, weekly statf newsletters, and an
annual employee survey and cngagemcent programme. Pay end benefils are assessed against the wider healthcare
seclorand regular salary benchmarking and pay review exercises are undertaken to allow clinical and other staff to
be paid at competitive levels in the market.

¢} the need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
The Board regularly revigws how the Group maintains positive relationships with all of its stakeholders including
patients, consultants, suppliers and others.

The Group’s patient satisfaction surveys ure run by an independent third party and show that 98 percent would
recommend our haspitals to their fricnds and family and 96 percent rated the overall quality of care as ‘very good®
ar ‘excellent’. The Group also undertakes consultant surveys fo gauge the views of the surgeons and ather medical
consultants praclicing in our haspitals. The Board reviews the results of these surveys. Supplier relationships are
managed through the Group’s pracurement team with longstanding relationships with key suppliers.

‘The Group's principal risks and uncertainties set out risks that can impact the long-term success of the Group and
haw these risks interact with out stakeholders, The Directors actively seek information on the interaction with
stakeholders ta ensure that they have sutticient information to reach appropriate conclusions about the risks face by
the Group and how these are reflected within the long-term plans.

d)  the imipact of the company’s operations on the community aud the environment;

The Group has an ongoing capital investment programme to improve the hospita} estate and bring new medical and
diagnostic equipment in te the hospitals. The capital praject process cansiders the environmental impact and energy
cificiency of programmes of work 1o monitor and improve this over time.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Corporate Governance Statement (Section 172(1})) (continued)

¢}  the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct

As a healtheare provider, the Board belicve that maintaining the reputation of the Group is critical for the future
suceess, Clinical quality and governance is at the heart of the culiure of the Group and receives significant focus at
Board level.

‘The Board is committed to high standards of business conduct and details of the governance structures are set out in
the annual Quality Acecunt. available an the Circle Health Groub website.

f)  the necd to act fairly as between menthers of the company
The Group holds monthly meetings with shareholders represented. Shareholders have warked effectively together to
agree the course for the long termt future of the Group

The Company and its Baard is committed to and has applied the principles of corporate governance contained in the
Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large private companies for the year ended 3! December 202 [. Further
explanation of how each principle has been applied is set out in the Statement of corporate govemance arrangements.

Going concern

Management of the Group has prepared liquidity forecasts for the purpose of the going concern review and fias also
applied various sensitivitics. These forecasts and sensitivities have been reviewed by the Directors of the Company
together with the underlying assumptions. The forecasts show that the Group has sufficient cash and facilities to provide
liquidity through the review period.

The Group’s new senior facilities are guaranteed by the Company’s ullimate parent company, Centene Corporation, and
financial covenants for the facilities are measured at that level. The directors of the Company have reviewed covenant
compliance, and ferecast performance for Centene Carporation, which indicate that these covenants will be complied
with throughout the forecast period with appropriate headroom.

After making enquiries, including reviewing the forecasts and sensitivities, the directors have concluded that they have a
reasanahle expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources available to them, te continue in
operational existence for the fareseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern hasis in preparing
the financial statements,

Further details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the Statement of accounting policies in

the financial statements,

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

ffe Sy

Henry Davies
Chief Financial Officer

-?9. September 2022
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2021

The Company and its board of directors (“the Board”y is committed to and has applied the prineiples of corporate
governance contained in the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large private companies for the year ended 31
December 2021, Further explanation of how each principle has been applied is set out below.

Purpase and leadership

The Board and Company have regular commusications with stakeholders. The key stakeholders and the specific forum
for engagement are listed below:

« Patients — patient feedback forms, complaints management policies, provision of information te Private Healthcare
Information Network {"PHIN") whose role it s to provide independent information to patients about private healthcare
providers

* Regulators — frequent relationship meetings with CQC, HIS and HIW and communication via Independent Healthcare
Provider Network ("THPN"}

* Employees — Employee Voice Forum ("EVF") and employee engagenient programme

» Consuliants — Mcdical advisory cominiltees within each hospital ("MAC™) chaired by a Bospital Clinical Chair

+ NHS — local relationships with Trusts and NHS commissioning bodies (CCGs / ICBs) , and central relationships with
™HS England and other nationai NHS bodies

» Insurers — relationships and regutar engagement with the commercial tcam

* Suppliers - relationships and regular engagement with the procurement team

The Directors have established the following purpose statement for the Group “To provide the high qualily, salc and
compassionate care our patients need and expeet” supported by the principles oft

» “we believe that patients come first”;

* “we believe in our people™;

+ “we believe that ‘good encugh’® never is™; and

» “we believe in being open-minded and innovative™.

and also supported by the follewing values:

* “we value people who are seifless and compassicnate™;
+ “we value people who are collaborative and committed™;
+ “we value people who are agile and brave”; and

+ “we value people who are lenacious and creative”,

The Company is committed to building a culture which encourages staff to speak up safely. During 2018 we relaunched
our “Raising Concerns al Work” policy and established ihe role of “Freedom to Speak Up Guardian”. “Freedom to Speak
Up™” leads were appointed in each hospital and have the support of their local management teams, the Group’s guardian
and our Chief Medical Officer who has Executive responsibility for *“Freedom to Speak Up”.

The Company bas various policies to mitigate the risk of conflicts of interest including the conflicts of intercst and anti-
bribery and coruption policies supported by a mandatory training programme. [n addition, all healthcare professionals
are required under their individual professional registrations to conduct themselves in an ethical manner and in the best
interests of patients, Relationships between the Group and medical consultants are disclosed on the Circle Health Group

website.

There are examples of how the directors have considered their dutics in relation to $172 b), in the manner in which it
engages with employees.

g
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Board compesition

The Circle Health Holdings Limited Board is comprised of Directors who have healthcare experience and/or other
relevant professional skills and experience. Details of Directors who have served over the period are included in the
Directors’ Report.

Directors’ responsibilities

The Group has a clearly defined governance framework, based on Board and Governance Assurance Frameworks, and
committes structures. The Board is supported by the Integrated Governance Committee, which has primary
responsibility for the oversight of clinical and other related governance and risks, and the Audit and Risk Committee,
which has primary responsibility for the oversight of financial and related governance and risks in the Group, together
with a series of operational and governance boards, committees and sub-committees, with established terms of reference.

Opportuenity and risk

The Company continually seeks opportunities to create value for stakeholders from growth in activity and improvement
in financial performance, using the existing assets of the Company and through investment in new facilities, equipment
and technology. The risks that threaten these opportunities have been described earlier, and are under active
management through the Company’s risk management systems.

Remuneration

On any new senior appeintment the board considers the market and remuneration packages that are commensurate to the
role. Short term incentive arrangements are based on the quality and performance of business, The market conditions are
reviewed on a regular basis. The Group’s Gender Pay Report 2021 is available on the Circle Health Group website.

Stakeholder relstionship and engagement

There are various mechanisms for collecting information to inform the Board’s view of the Group's impact on
stakeholders. Information about patients is obtained fram various clinical indicators and patient repatted outcome
measures (PROMS), The Group menitors its impact on the environment through review of the carbon emissions
reporting (see further information on this elsewhere in the Directors® Report), Other stakehelder engagement
mechanisms are set out in the {irst principle above around Purpose and Leadership,

S ST
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2021

The Directors present their repert on the affairs of the Company, together with the audited financial statements and
audilor’s report, for the year ended 31 December 2021,

Details of events affecting the Company since the financial period end, an indication of likely future developments in the
business, details of principal risks and uncertainties, financial risk management, engagement with employees, suppliers and
customers and a statement an gning concern have been included in the Strategic report and therefore form part of this
Directors' report by reference.

Principal activity

The Group is a providesr of healthcare services in the UK, treating privately insured, self-pay and NHS-funded patients at
hospitals across the UK. The Group also manages integrated care systems on behaf of commissioners. The Group’s
business strategy is founded on the belief that the best way to deliver great patient care is to empower the doctors, nurses
and all ether staff who work in our hospitals and clinics lo put patients’ niceds first.

Dividends

The Directors do not prepose a dividend for the year (2020: £nil).

Directors

The Directors who served throughout the year, except as noted, and subsequently are as shown below:

Lord Hutton

Brent Layton

Paolo Pieri

Peter Sullivan

Henry Davies

Paul Manning

Ashley Lewis (resigned 1 July 2021)
Torquil Macnaughton (resigned [ Tuly 2021)
Beverley Tew (appointed 23 February 2022)

Supplier payment policy

The Comparny’s policy is to settle terms of payment with suppliers when agrecing the terms of each transaction. Trade
creditors af the Company were equivalent to 40 (2020: 52) days’ purchases, based on the average daily amount inveiced
by suppliers during the period.

Directors' and officers’ insurance

The Company has procured qualifying third party indemnity insurance for all Directors and Officers of the Company and
all Group comparnies. The Company has directors’ and officers' insurance for the benefit of, amongst others, the directors
of the Company, which is in place at the date of this report.

AT PTAAT  Ba a5 e




Page 12

Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 {continued)

Disabled employees

Anplications for employment by disabled persons are always fuily considered, bearing in mind the abilities of the
applicant concerned. In the event of members of staff beconiing disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their
employment with the Company continues and that appropriate training is arranged. [t is the policy of the Company that the
training, carcer development and prometion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other

chployees,
Eemployee consuliation

The Company places considerable value on the involvement of its employees, and has continued to keep them informed on
marers affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the company. This is achieved
through formal and informal meetings, the company newsletter, and regular emails. Employee representatives are
consulted regularly on a wide range of matters affecting their current and fature interests and a staff survey is campleted

and reported on each year.

Energy and carbon reporting

The data reported on below include all sources of Green House Gas ("GHG") einissions and energy usage as required
under The Large and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 as amended. This
hias been compiled in line with the *Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and carbon

reporting guidance 20207,

2

Circle emissions and energy usage

For Circle Health Holdings Limited, GHG emissions and energy usage date for period | January to 31

December
2021 2020
Tonnes of Tonnes of
CO,e COye
Gas consumption {scope 1) 13,864 12,213
Ernissions from combustion of fuel for transport pti poses (scope 1) 923 £75
Emnissions from electricity purchased for own use, including for the 14237 12,264
purposes of transport (scope 2)
Coal - industrial (scope 1) B77 612
Other petroleum gas {(Calor) {scape 1) 14 6
Fuel oil - generator fuel (scope 1} i85 181
Emisstons from business travel in employee-owned vehicles where company
L 221 153
pays for fuel indirectly (scope 3)
Total 30,328 25,604
Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (kWh) 150,555,533 90,018,377
Revenue (£'m) 1,052 985
Tonnes of CO,e per revenue {per £'m) 29 26

Data shown for 2020 in the table reflect the emissions for the entire group, as i it had been operating as one business
for the fuil financial year 1 January to 31 December 2020, and reflects the increase in activity across the Group as the

UK emerged from the pandemic,
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Cirele Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Energy and carbon reporting {continned)

During the finaacial year the Group continued to develop its systems and management approach 1o reduce its
environmental impact. The Health and Safety committee regularly reviews and evaluates opportunities to reduce our
environmental impact and related costs. The continued focus remains on the major utilitics of electricity, gas, water and
wastewater along with the material commoditics of both healthcare and general waste management and recycling.

The Environmental management process is broken down into two key management areas: Waste Management (including
recycling) and Utilitics Management.

Waste management, including recyciing elements, are covered and monitored by the Regional Health and Safety managers
in cooperation with tocal site Waste QOfficers; Utilities management elements are managed by the Repicnal Engineering
Managers with local support from environment officers and site engincers. This delegation of responsibilities makes best
use of the skillset within the teams.

We have followed the 2021/2022 UK Geovernment environmental reporting guidance and used the GHG Protocal
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (revised edition) and emission factors from the UK Government’s GHG
Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2020 to calculate these disclosures. We are working towards becoming Net
Zero by 2050, and arc investigating options to help achieve this aim,

Disclosure af information to the zuditor

Each of the persons who is a director at the datc of approval of this repont confirms that:

+ 5o far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditar is unaware; and
« the director has taken all the steps that she or he ought to have taken as a director in order to make herself or himself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 5418 of the Companies Act
2006.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

Mo dos,

Director: Henry Davies

;f.-”'.. September 2022
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' responsibilities statement
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Statement of Directors’ vesponsibilities in respect of the financial statements

‘The Directors are responsible tor preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
taw and regulations.

Company law requires the dircclors o prepare financial statements for each financial year, The directors are

required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
{"IFRS"), and Article 4 of the IAS regulalion, and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law). The directors must not approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing the parent
company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

» make judgemenis and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

» state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements; and

+ prepare the financial statements on the geing concem basis vnless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial siatements, LAS 1 requires that directors;

sproperly select and apply accounting policies;

+present information, including accounting pelicies, in a manner thai provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

sprovide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS is insufficient to cnable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity s financial position and financial
performanee; and

smake an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concem.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial pasition of the company and
enable then to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also respensibte for
safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom govering the preparation and dissemination of financial
staternents may ditfer from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Circle Heaith Holdings Limited

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Report on the gudit of the financial statements

Opinion

In gur opinion:

+ the financial statements of Circle Health Holdings §.imited (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the *group”) give a
truc and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 Decernber 2021 and of the group’s
loss for the year then ended;

« the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international
accounting standards;

* the parent company financial stateruents have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 *Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

+ the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

+ the consolidated and parent company statements of financial position;
* the consolidated and parent comprany statements of changes in cquity;
» the consclidated statement of cash flows; and

» the related notes 1 to 36; and

* the related notes to the parcut company financial statements 1 to 3.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law
and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial reparting framework that has been applied in
the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted

Accounting Practice),

Basis for opinion
We conducted vur audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further deseribed in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial

statements section of our report.

We are independeat af the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the UK, in¢luding the Financial Reporting Council's (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis tor our apinion.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited (continued)

Canclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accaunting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and parent company'’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of acceunting included:

* revicwing the model used to prepare the forecasts, testing of clerical accuracy of those forecasts and our assessment of the
historical accuracy of forecasts prepared by management;

* challenging the assumptions used in the forecasis by reference to market data;

* an assessment of the headroom with reference to the fingncial covenants in place; and

* recalculation of management’s sensitivity anatysis and assessment of mitigating actions available.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not ideatified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s ability to continuc as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concem arc deseribed in the relevant
sections of thig report,

Other information

The wther information comprises the information included in the annual report, ather than the financial statements and our
auditoi’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annuat report. Our
opinion on the financial statements does nat cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in
our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read (e other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. [f we identify such materia! inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to & material misstatement in the financial statements themselves, If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 1o report that
fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Respansibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilitics staternent, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the dircetors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are frcc from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors ate responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability
1o continue as a going concern, disclasing, as applicable, marters rclated to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting nnless the directors either intend to tiquidate the group or the parent company or ta cease operations, or liave no
realistic aiternative but to do so.

Wy S

S .
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited (continued)

Auditor’s respansibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives arc o abtain reasonable assurance about whether the financiaf slatcicnts as a whole are free from naterial
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
g high level af assnrance, it is nat a grarantes that an audét conducted in accerdance with ISAS (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement wher it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expecied to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial stafements,

A further description of our responsibilitics for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
wwav.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities, This description forms patt of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Trregularities, including fraud, are instances of nou-compliance with faws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to defect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to
which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below,

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s documentation of
their policies and procedures relating to faud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also enquired of management
and those charged with governance about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities.

We obtained an understanding of the fegaf and repulatory frameworks that the group operates in, and identified the key laws

and regulations that,

= had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These included the
UK Companies Act, tax legislation, employment law, Health and Social Care Act Regulations and Care Quality Commission
Regulatons; and

» do not have a direct ¢ffect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the group’s ability
Lo operate of to avoid a material penalty. These included (encral Data Protection Regulation (GDPRY), anti-bribery legislation
and anti-maney laundering regulattons.

We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internal specialists such as tax, valuations, pensions and
LT regarding the opportunitics and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might
occur in the financial statements,

As a resuit of performing the above, we identificd the greatest potential for fraud in the following area, and our specific
pracedures performed to address it are described below:

« manual adjusiments to revenue relating to discounts: we challenged the rationale behind the manual revenue adjustments
identifed, inspected the key inputs and supporting calculations for the adjustments and evaluated the recognition as revenue in
accordance with [FRS 15.

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to tespond to the risk of
management averride. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the appropriateness
of journal entyies and other adjustiments; assessed whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative
of a potential bias; and evaluated the husiness rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal
course of business.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited {continued)

Extent ta which the andit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, incfuding fraud (continued)

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

* reviewing financial slatement disclosures by lesting to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of
relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial slatements;

* performing analytical procedures 1o identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement duc to fraud:

+ enquiring of management and external legal counsel conceming actual and potential litigation and claims, and instances of
non-compliance with faws and regulations; and

» reading minutes of mectings of those charged with governance.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters preseribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

+ the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

« the strategic repori and the directors’ reporl have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

[n the light of the knowiedge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the direclors” report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matlers if, in our opinion:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have nol been
received from branches not visited by us; or

* the parent company (inancial stalements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

= cendin disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

= we have nol received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nolling to report in respect of these matters.

Use of pur report

This report is made solely 1o the company’s members, as a body, it accordance with Chapter 3 of Part {6 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matlers we are
required to siate to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by taw, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other (han the company and the company’s members as a body, for cur audit waork,
for this repon, or for the opinions we have formed.

Paul Schofield FCA (Senior statwtory audilor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

London, United Kingdom

Date: 3 DSeptember 2022



Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Tncome
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Notes
Revenue 4
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Operating profit before exceptional items
Exceptional administrative expenses 5
Operating profit ]
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 26
Finance income 8
Finance costs 9
Loss before tax
[ncome tax (charge)/eredit 10

Loss for the year

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

The notes on pages 25 to 59 form part of these financial statements,

1021 2020
£:000 £000
1,051,642 984,874
(845,520) (772,492)
206,122 212,384
(111,860) (98,470)
94,262 113,914
(11,609) (41,124)
32,653 72,790
3,267 -
54 481
(137,376) {136,515)
(51,402 63,244)
(1,274) 2,868
(52,676) (60,376)
(53,594) (61,022
918 646
(52,676) (60,376)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprchensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Page 20

31 December

31 December

2621 2020
£000 £'000
Logg for the year (52,676) (60,376)
Items that will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss (all net of tax):
Actuarial gain/(loss) on scheme obligations 4,028 (20,198)
Actuarial {loss)/gain on scheme assets (3,862) 10,887
Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset 8,373 8,418
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes 8,539 (893)
Net effect in reserves arising from movements on future scheme commitment (8,539) 893
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified - -
Other comprehensive income for the vear - -
Total comprehensive expense for the year (52,676) (60,376)

The accompanying notcs are an intepral part of the statrement of other comprehensive income.
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Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Goodwill

Propeity, plant and equipment
Investments

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

Assets classified as held for sale
Total assets

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Provisions
Lease liabilities

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for

sale

Non-current liabilities
Provisions

Loans and other borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

Total liabilities
Net assets

Share capita!

Share premiur

Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests
Total equity

Notes

Il
12
13
15

I6
18

32

21

17

32

22
19
20
17

24
24

235

2021 2020
£000 £000
46,413 56,652
147,478 147,478
1,734,676 1,765,684
5,142 3,407
1,933,709 1,973,221
17,276 16,884
75,712 76,515
102,915 115,857
195,903 209,256
- 29,575
2,129,612 2,212,052
(169,709) (L78,453)
(17,086) (18,142)
(8,065) (7,117)
{194,860) {203,712
- (25,398)
(118) (154)
(214,038) (211,885)
©(11,133) (9,240)
{1,666,021)  (1,665,687)
(1,891,310) __ (1,886,966)
(2,086,170) _ (2,116,076)
43442 95,976
21 21
201,476 201,476
(160,487) (107,106
41,010 94,391
2,432 1,585
43,412 93,976

et
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2021 (continued)

The financial statements of Citcle Health Holdings Limited were appraved by the Board of Directors and
authorised for issue on .2.¢. September 2022, They were signed on its behalf by:

#“”‘"ﬂvé"&_\

Namc: Herwy Davies
Director

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
The company’s registered number is 10543098,
The company's registered address is st Floor, 30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, England.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Non-

Share Share  Accumulaled controbling
capital premiunt losses Tatal interest Total equity 7
£2000 £'000 £000 £:000 £'000 £'000 :
Baulance as af 31 December 2019 21 75,391 (46,084) 19,318 (1,005) 28,323 .
Issue of shares {note 24) - 126,085 - 126,088 - 126,085 ‘

Acquisition of non-controlling interests - - - . 2,738 2,738

Dividends - - - - (794) {794)
(Loss)/profit for the year - - (61,022) {61,022) 646 (60,376}
Other comprehensive Joss for the year - - - - . - )
Balance as at 31 December 2020 21 201 476 (107,106} 94,391 1,585 95,976
Issue of shates (note 24) . - - ~ - - f’
Amounts vested under IFRS 2 (note 24) - - 213 213 - 23
Dividends - - - N 1) 1y <
(Loss)/profit for the year - - {53,594) (83,594) S8 (52,676) E
Other compreliensive loss for the year - - - ~ - . .
Balance as at 31 December 2011 21 201476 {16G,487) 41,010 2432 43,442 :

The notes on pages 25 to 59 form part of these firancial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2021
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Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash flow [kom opcerating activities (uote 29)
Interest recerved

Tnterest paid

Tax paid

Net cash inflows from operafing activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends received from associates

Purchase of computer software

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net proceeds on disposal of subsidiary (note 26)
Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired

Net cash outflows from investing activities

Repayment of lease liabilties

Draw down on finance lease facility

Net proceeds {tom loans and borrewings
Shares issued

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities
Net (decrease)fincrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash at bank and in hand

Cash and cash equivalents ceported in assets held for sale

Cash and bank balances

* The prior year figures have been restated to show:

2021 2020
£000 £:000
(Restated)*

184,393 208,202
54 48]
(129,727) (115,819}
(3,728) -
50,992 92,864
2,450 -
{1,022) (4,374)
(57,153) (34,966)
677 5,226

788 -

- {228,689)
(34,260) (262,803)
(13,496) (14,557)
- 8,730

- 158,226

- 126,085
(13,496) 278,484
(16,764) 108,543
119,675 11,134
102,915 119,679
102,915 115,857
- 3,822
102,915 119,679

1) interest payments made on lease liabilities pertaining to right-of-use buildings within *Interest paid” rather than
‘Repayiment of lease liabilities’, increasing interest paid by £105.2m and reducing repayment of lcase liabilitics by

£105.2m compared to the figures presented in the prior year financial statements,

2y working capital movements relating to assets and liabilities classified as held for sale included in the cash flow
statement, jncreasing cashflows fiom operating activities by £3.8m and increasing cash and cash equivalents balance

by £3.8m (see note 29 for further information).
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021

General Information

Cirele Health Hofdings Limited (the 'Company' or 'Group') is a private company limited by shares that is incorporiated, registered and damiciled in the United
Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The registered office is Lst Floor 30 Cannon Strect, Loudan, EC4M 6XH. The mature of the company's operations
and its principal activities are set out in the Strategic Report an pages 2 lo & The financial statemients are for the year ended 31 December 2021,

Significant accounting pelicies

Basis of preparation
The Group fi ial lidate those of the parent company and its subsidiaries. The parent company financial slatements present information

about the Conipany as a separate eulity and not about is Group.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) and Companies Act 2006
applicable to companies reporting under TFRS.

“I'e comsolidated financial stalements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
Tems included in the results of cach of the Group's subsidiaries are measured using the functional currency, which in all fslances is Pounds {GBF), The

Groug's consclidated finaneial and parent pany statements are presented in Pounds. This is the functional currency of the Group as this is the
main cwrency in which the Group operates. Afl financial infonmation hes been rounded to the nearest thousand.

The Company lias clected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101, ‘Reduced Disclosnre
Framework' (FRS 101). The Company financial stat s have been prepared in accordance with The Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies

using FRS 101

These are presented on pages 60 to 65,

The foltowing exemptions fron! the requirements of IFRS have been applicd in the preparation of the Company financial statements:

«1AS 7, 'Statement of cash flows’ and paragraph 10{d) of TAS | (statement of cash flows)

« The rzquirement in 1AS 24, 'Related party disclosures ' to disclose related party transactions entered into between two or more members of a group

* The requirsments of 1FRS 7 Financial Instrumcuts: Disclosures

» The requirement in paragraph 38 of [AS | Preseatation of Financial Statements to present comparative infarmation in respect of garapraph 7%a)(iv) of IAS
L

The principal acconating policies for the Group and Company are set out below:

+ v e e s e

R
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Notes to the financia! stalements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

2,

Signlflcant accounting policies {centinued)

New and amended [FRS Standarda that are effective for the current year

Tmpact of the iniiial application af Interesi Rute funark Raform Iimenis to IFRS 9 und IFRS 7

In the current yeas, the Group adopted the Phase 2 amendments Interest Rate Beuchmark Reform—Amendments to [FRS 9, 1AS 39, TFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16, Adopting hese amendntents enables the Graup (o reflect the effzcts of rransitioving from interbank offered rates (IBOR) to altemative benchniark
intersst rales (alsn referred to as “risk free rates’ or RFRs) witlout giving rise Lo accounting impacts that would not provide useful information o users of
finarcizl stalements. The Graup has not restaled the prior period. Instead, the amendments have been applied retrospectively with any adjustments
recogitised in the appropriate components of equity as at 1 Januay 2021

The Phase | amendmients did nal impact the group as it daes not hedge its interest rate beachmark exposures. Phase 2 amendments are relevant to the Group
because i the currem period modifications in response to the reform have heen made to the Group’s non-derivative financial instruments that mature posi
2021

As a result of the Phiase 2 amendments when the canbiactual terms of the Group's baak borrowings are amended as a direct consequence of the inlerest rate
beuchmark reform and the new basis for determining the contracal cash flows is economically equivalent to the basis immediatedy preceding the change,
the Group changes the basis for determining the contrectual cash flows prospectively by revising the effective intecest rate, If additional changes are made,
which are nat directly related to the reform, the applicable requirements of IFRS 9 are applied 1a the ofher changes. See noie 19 for further details regarding
chanpges wade to the LIBOR-linked bank bomrowings.

New and revised IFRS Standards {m issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issucd but
are nat yet effective:

IFRS L7 {includimg the June 2020 Amendnienls Iisurance Contracts

to IFRS 17

.-hnendmen)ls to IFRS (D apd TAS 28 Sale or Contribuiion of Assels hehceen aar hivestor and its Associale or Joint Ventire
Amendments to 1AS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Amendments 1o TFRS 3 Reference 1o the Concapinal Framework

Amendments 1o [AS 1§ Praperty, Plani and Equipment —Proceeds before huended Use

Amendments to [AS 37 Onerons Coniracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Anunal Improvements to [FRS Standards 2018- Amenctments io JFRS | Frrst-time Adoption of Inteynativnal Financial Reporting Standards,
2020 Cyele IFRS 9 Flnanciai Insirumeitts, (FRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41 Agricwlmre

Amendments to JAS | and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments (o TAS § Dufinition of Accounting Estimates

Amendinents to I1AS 12 Deferred Tux relaied ta Assets und Liabilitles arising from a Single Trausaction

Pisclosure of Accounting Pohcies

‘The divectors do not expect that the adaption of the Standards listed above will liave a material impact on the financiad statements of the Group in future
pericds, except as noled below:

A hments o JAS 1 Pr Ton af Fi ial St s —ClassifTcation af Liabllities as Carrent or Nan-cttrrent
The amendments to IAS | affect only the presentation of liabilities as curvent or nou-current in the stalement of fimancial position and nat the amount or
timing of recognition of any ssset, liability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed about those items.

The amendments olarify that the classification of Liabilities as current or nen-curent is based on rights Uiat are in existence at the end of the 1eporting period,
specify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its tight to defer settlement of a liability, explain that rights are
in existence if covenaits are complied with at the end of the reparting period, and introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear tiat settfemant refers
to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instroments, other asseis or services.

The amendments are applied retrospectively for anmial petiods begiruting on or after L January 2023, with early application permitted.

Antendments 1o IFRS 3 Business Combluations—Referenve fo the Concepiial Framework

Tlig gmendments update [FRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of the 1989 Framework. They also add to TFRS 3 a requirement
thal, far obligations within the scope of [AS 37, an acquirer applies 1AS 37 to determine whether at the a¢quisition daie 2 present obligation exists as a result
aof past events. Fou a levy that would be within the scope of TFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC 21 to deternring whether the obligating event that
gives risc (o a liability to pay the levy has oceurred by the acquisition date.

Finalty, the amendments add an explicit statement that an acquirer docs not recognisc centingent assels acquired in a business combination,

The anendments are ¢ffcetive for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on ot afier the beglaning of the fiist annual peried beginning on
or after | Januasy 2022. Farly application is permitted if an enfity also applies all other updated references (published together with the updated Conceptual
Framework) at the same time or earlier.

Amendments to JAS 16— Praperty, Plant und Equlpirenit—Proceeds before Titended Use

The amendiuents prohibit deducting From the cost of ad item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items produced before that asset is
available for use, i.e. proceeds while brnging the asset to the localion and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
mansgement. Consequently, an enlity recognises such sales proceeds and related costs in profit or loss, Tha entity measures the cost of those items in
accordance with EAS 2 Inventodies.
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1. Significant zccounting policies (continued)
New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective (continued)

Antendutents to 148 16— Property, Plant and Eqripmest—~Proceeds before fntonded Use (continied) N
The amendments also clarily the meaning of ‘testing whether an asset is functioning properly’. TAS 16 now specifies this as assessing whesher the techucal
and physical performance of the assel is such (hat it is capable of heing used in the praduction or supply of goads or services, for rental to athers, or for
adntinistralive purposes.

If not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, lhe financial statements shall disclose the amounts of proceeds and cost included in
profit or loss that relate to items produced that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities, and which line item(s) in the statement of camprehensive
income include{s) such proceeds and cost. 3

The amendments are applied retrospectively, but only to items of property, plant and equipment that are brought to the lacation and condition necessacy for
them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management an or after the beginaing of the ealiest periad preseated in the financial statements
i which ihe entity first applies the amendnsents.

The entity shali recagnise the cumulative effect af initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings {or ather
component of equity, as appsopriate) at the beginning of thal azliest periad presented.

The amendments are affeclive for annual periods beginning on or after | Janwary 2022, willi early application permiitted.

Amendments te ILS 37 Provisians, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Asscts—Onerons Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling u Contraci

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the *costs that refate directly to the coatract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract
consist of both the incremental costs of fulfiiling that conlrac! {cxamplés would be dir¢ct 1abour or marerials) and an allocatior of otler costs Uat relate
directly to fulfilling contracts {zn example would be the allocation of the depreciation eharge for an irem of propery, plant and equipment used in fulfilling
the contract).

The amendments apply to contzacts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual reparting peciod in which the
entity first applies the amendments, Comparatives ar¢ not restatéd. Insiead, the entify shail recognise the cunulative effect of initially applying the
dments as an adjustment 1o the opening balance of retained eamings or ather compenent of equity, as appropriate, at the date of initial application.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2012, with early application pernitted.

Annnal Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 — Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Finuncial Reporting Standards,
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, JFRS I8 Leases, and IAS 41 Agricultire
The Annual huprovements include amendments to fwo Standards that could be applicable to the Group aud the Company.

{FRS 9 Financlal listruments
The amendmen clarifies that in applying the *10 per cent’ test to assess whether to derecognise a financial lisbility, an entity includes only faes paid or
received between the entity (the borrower) aud i lender, including fees paid or reccived by either the entity or the lender on the other's behalf.

The d is applied prospectively to modifications and exchanges that occur on or afier the date the entity first applies the amendment,

The amendnien is effective for amnual periods begiming on or after 1 January 2022, with early application permisted.

IFRS 16 Leases 8
The emendment removas the iilustration of the reimbursement of leasehold insprovements.

As the amendment to IFRS 16 only regards an illustrative example, no effective date is stated.

A d ta IAS 1 Py of Fi ictf $tur, ts antdd IFRS Practice Stxtement 2 Making Materiality Judgemenis—Disclostire of
Aecounting Pelicies

The di change the Tequi s in [AS | with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The amendment replaces all insiances of the term
‘significant acecunting pelicies’ with *material accounting policy infarmation’. Accounting policy inforustion is material if, when considered togelher with
other information included in an entity’s finangial statements, it can bly be expecied ta infl decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of these financial statements. :
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Stgnificant accounting policies (continued)
New and revised IFRS Standards in issue bui nat yet effective (continued)

4 i fo LS 1 Pr jan of Financial Statements and 1FRS Practice Statement 2 Muking Materlality Judgements—Disciosnre of

1)

A fing Policies {
The supporting paragraphs in [AS | are also amended to clarify thal aceounting policy infornyatian that relates Lo imuaterial wansactions, ather events or
conditions is immaterial and need not be disclosed. Accounting policy information may be material becanse of {he nature of dhe related transactions, other
events or conditions, even 1l the amounts are mmatenal. However, nat all zccounting policy information relating o material ansactions, other events ar
conditions is itself material.

The Board has alse developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of the “four-siep mateviality process” descnbed in [FRS
Praclice Statement 2.

The amendments to | AS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2023, with earlier application permitied and are applied
prospectively. The ansendments to IFRS Praclice Statement 2 o not contain an effective date or transition requirements.

Amendments to 1AS 8 Acconnting Palicies Changes in Acconnting Estimetes gnd Errors—Definltion of Accounting Estimates
The amendiments replaces the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of accounting estimates, Under the new definition, accounting
estimates are “monetary amounts in financial stalements that are subject to measurement mcertainty”.

The definition of a change in accounting ¢stinlaies was deleted. However, the LASR retained the cancept of changes in accounting sstimates in the Standard

with the following clarifications:
+ a change in accounting estimate that resules from new information or nev developments is nol the correction of an error; and
+ the effects of # change in an input or 2 measurement sechnique used i develop an accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not

result from the comection of prior period ervors.

The 1ASB added two exanples (Examples 4-5) to the Guid on impl ing JAS 8, which panies the Standard. The 1ASB has deleted one
example {Example 3) as il could cause confusion in light of the amendments.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on ar after 1 January 2023 to changes in accounting policics and changes in accounting <stimates
that accur on or sfier the bepinning of that period. with earlier application permitted.

Amendments 1o LAS 12 Incoswe Tuxes—Deferred Tax refuted to Assets and Liabilitles arising from a Single  Transaction
The amendinents introduce a further exception from the initial recognition exemption. Under the amendments, an entity does not apply the initial recognition
cxemption for fransactions that give rise to equal saxable and deductible temporary differences.

Depending on the applicable tax faw, equal taxabiz and deductible temporary differences may arise en initial recoguition of an asset and liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. For example, this nay arisc upon recognition of a kease
Liability and the cormesponding right-of-usc asse applying IFRS §6 at the commencement date of 3 Lease.

Following thte amendments to LAS 12, an entity is required 1o recagnise the related deferred tax asset and liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax
asset being subject to the recoverability criteria i IAS 12,

The 1ASB also added 2 illustrative example to LAS 12 that explains howy the amendments are applied.

The amendments apply o transactions that oceur o or after be beginning of the carliest comparative peried presented. I addition, at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period ar enlity recogrises:
~ a deferred lax asset (to the extent that itis probable that taxable profit will be available against whieh the dednctible temporary difference can be wtilised)
and a deferred tax Liability for all deductible and taxable temporary differences associated witl:

o right-of-use assets and lease liabilines

o decommissioning, restotation and similar Liabilities and the coresponding amounts recognised as part of the eost of die related asset;
» the cumulative effect of initiaily applying the arrendments as an adjustment te the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as
appropriate) at Lhat date.

The amendments are &ffectiva for annual reporting petiods beginning on or after | January 2623, with carlier application pennitted.

Going concern

Management of the Group has prepared liquidity farecasts for the purpose of the pobig concers: ceview ang have aiso applied various sensitivities. These
forecasts ang sensitivitics bave been reviewed by the direclors of the Company together with the underlying assumptions. The forccasts shovy that the Group
has sufficient cash and fagilities to provide liquidity through the review pericd.

The Group's new senior facitities (set out in nate 19) are guaranteed by the Company's ult parent cempany, Centene Corporatien, and financial
covenants for the facilities are measured at that level. Therefore, the directors of the Company have reviewed the covenant conipliance repouting and the
forecast financial performance. The covenant reparting shows that the coversants bave been complied with thraughout the period and the forecast financial
performance indicates that they will be complied with throughout the forecast period with appropriate headroom.
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Significant accounting pelicies {continued)
Going coneern (contlnued)

Afier making enguiries, including reviewing the lorecasts and sensitivities, the directors have canciuded that they have a reasonable expectation that the
Group and the Company have adequale resources available (a them, to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable fatwe, and 3¢ least for 12
months from the date of these financial statements, Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entify controlled, directly or indirectly. Control is regarded as the power to guvem the financial and epezating policies of the subsidiary so
as 10 benefit from its activities. The financial results of subsidiaries are consclidated from the date control is obtained until the date that control ceases. All
intra Group transactions are eliminated as part of the ¢ousolidation pracess.

Business comhinations
Under the requirements of IFRS 3 (1evised), a{l busiuess combinalions are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cousideration wansferred for the

acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferzed, the liabilities incurred to Uie former owners of the business and 1he equity interests
issued by the Group. Identifiable assets acquired, liabifities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair values at
the acyuisition date. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible assed, such as a brand, is recopnised if it meets the definition of an
indangible asset under [AS 38 ‘lutangible assets’. The excess of the cost of the acquisition aver the fair value of the Group's sharé of t:e net assets acquired
is recorded as gaodwill.

Gaodwill and other intangible assets

Intangible asseis with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amaortisation and acennlated impainoient losses.
The estunated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with he effect of any changes in estimaie being
accounted for an a prospective hasts

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are camed at cost tess accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising ou
acquisitions is capitalised, held on fhe balance sheet indefinitely and subject to an impaimieni review, both annually and when there is an indication that the
carrying value may nat be recoverable. At the date of acquisitian, goodwill is allocated af the lowest levels for which there are separate identifiable cash
flows for the purpose of impainuent testing. Assets, excluding goodwill, which have suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting daie.

Acquired contracts arc scparately identified from goodwitl acquired as part of & business combination and are initially stated at fair valve as at the
acquisition date. The fair value attriburable is determised by discounting the expected future cash flows to be generated from that asset at the risk adjusted
weighted average cost of capital appropriate to that intangible asset. The assets are amortised on n straight ling basis over their estimated usefat lives which
range from % ta 15 ycars.

Acquired computer sofrware (defined as software that is not considered an integral part of the hardware cquipment) is capitalised on the basis of the costs
incwred ta acquire and bring to use the specific asset (estimated useful life not exceeding three years).

Braud is separalely identified from goodwill acquired as part of a business combination and are initially stated at fair value as at the acquisition date. The fair
value atributable is determined Ly discounting ihie expected future cash flows to be gencrated from that asset at the risk adjusted weighted average cast of
capital appropriate to that intangible asset. The assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives which range from 15 years.

Goodwill has an indefinite life in botk the curient year and prior period.

Revenue

The Group geaerates reverue fiom the provision of medical services to pivately insured, sekf-pay and NHS-funded patients ar facililies located across the
UK. Mamagement is required to take all relevant factors and circumstances into account when determining the revenue recagnition metliods that
appropriately depict the transfer of control of gooads or services to the customer for each performance cbligation. This requires management o make certain
judgemenss, inchuding: the d ination of the perfi obligatians in the cantract; the estimate of any variable consideration in determining the
coutract price; the allocation of the price ta the performance ebligations inherent in the contract; and an appropriate method of recognising revenue.

In determiining the appropriate method of recagnising revenue, mansgement are required to make judgements as to whether performance obligations are
satistied over a peciod of time or at a point in time. For performance obligations that are satisfied over a periad of time, judgements ar¢ made as to whether
the output method or the input method is ;ore appropriate to measure progress fowards conplete satisfaction of the performance abligation. Ff performance
abligations are not satisfied over time, the Group recognises revenue at a point in time.

Revenue, which is measured as the fair value of consideration received for the activity performsed, represents the total amounts devived primarily from the
provision of healtheare services in the UK, after deducting value added tax (where services provided are nat exempt).

\anagement las undertaken o detailed assessment of all revenue streams using the five-step approach specilied by [FRS 15:
+ [demify the cantract(s) with the customer

» [dentify the performance obligations b the contract

+ Determine the iransacton price

= Allocate the transaclion price ta the performance cbligations in the contract

« Recognise revenue when (or as) a performance cbligation is satisfied

i
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2, Significan¢ accauniing poticies {continued)
Revenue can be broken down into the following main calegories:

NHS Hospital Provision {any qualified pravider and direct contracting)
Ary provider who is able to provide a specific service that mecls the required minimum standards can be listed as a possible provider s deliver healtheare
on behalf of the NHS at national tariff, Patients choose their preferred provider under the rational e-refermal sysierm (formesly the Choose and Boak systent).

Following the patients” treatment and subscquent discharge fram hospital, the Group will invoice the relevant Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) directly
at tariff for the medicat procedure performed and recognise the applicable revenue. The performance of the treatment is the sole performance cbligation
(representing that this is when the service is transferred), and so the whole tariff price is allocated to that performance obligation. Na pyovider is guaranieed
any volume ar exchusivity. Ia addition Lo any gualified pyovider revenue, some revenue is samed from contracts with the NHS Truats, with performance of
wreatments being the sale performance obligatiois.

During the current periad, the Group also eamied revenue from ceniral NHS bodics and focal health schemes in England, Scotland and Wales under contracts
put in place te allow the independent seclor to support the NHS during the Covid-19 Pandemic.

NHS Cortracts with guaranteed payments

Integrated Care contracts have a tern, usually, of five years. The contracl involves a ‘prime provider’ {Circle) who takes responsibility for coordinating and
managing the delivery of services zcross a local health systenu. Circle’s main contracting parties are ihe local commissioner {CCG) and local care providess.
The contract revenue is recagnised to the extent that the Group abiains the right to consideration in ¢xchange for its pecformance and is measured at the fair
value of the consideration received for activity performed (in accordance with IFRS 153

The annual revenus reiates to the year beginning 1 Aprif and ends ow 31 March i the following year. The révenue is determined at the beginning of the year,
in Tespect of the contract and any demographic growth in the local health system. The annual revenue is spread monthly acress the year in a wanner that
reflects the proportion of total annual cost anticipated to be borme in that montl. This is to reflect the contracts’ main performance obligation of coordinating
and managing the delivery af services to patients, with the cost of these services incurred reflecting the completion of the performancc obligation.

Private and self-pay
Revenue is recagnised based on procedures performed cithier at comractually agreed insurance prices or self-pay rates. These are determined by the specific
pracedure undertaken. The completion of the medical procedure js the sole perfonnance obligation, and sa the whole price is allocated to that performance

obligation. In the case of Private hledical Insurer revenue, the i [ pay the H directly and Circle recognises revenue for use of the

lospital, consumables and other clinical services which are recognised as provided.

For self-pay patients, Circle recoguises revenue when the performance obligation has been satisfied.

In accordance with [FRS 15, the Company recognises (evenue when performance obligations have been satjsfied and for the Company tlis is when the
strvices have been provided to the Group operating companies.

Revenue is recoguised 1o the extent that the Company obtains the right to consideration in exchange for {is performance and is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received for activity performed.

Exceptional administeative expenses
The Group presents cectain material exceptional items and fair value adjustmients separately in the income statement, if they are naterial because of their
size or their nanure {such as acquistion related cosis). The Directors consider that the separate reporting pravides a clearer understanding of the Group's

underlying performance.

Finance casts

Finance costs are recognised on an effective interest rate basis in the period in which they are mewrred, except where they are directty attributable to the
acquisitien or production of a qualifying asset which takes a substantial period of thuse to get ready for iznded use, such as the construction of a hospital In
such cases, horrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cast of that asset from the first date on which expenditure is incurred for the asset, provided the
asset is determined to be ically viable. Capitalisation ceases when alf the activities thai arc vecessary (o prepare the asset for use are complete.

Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are valued at cost less provision for impairment, The carrying velue of fixed asset invesiments is roviewed for impainuent when

evenls of changes in circumstances indicate the caerying value may ot be recoverable.
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1, Significant accounting polictes (continued)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated al historical cost less acoumulated deprecintion and impairmend losses. Histarical cost comprises all amounls
directly atisibutable to making assets capable of operating as intended, including develapment cosis and borrowing costs where relevant.

Depreciation is provided on all categonies of propaity, plant and equipment with the exception of freeliold land and assets under canstruction. Depreciation
is based on cost less estinsaled residnal vabue and is provided an a straight line basis aver Lthe estimated useful life af the asset as fallowvs:

- |easehold improvements — shorter of lease life or expected useful life {3-30 years)

~ Clinigal equipment — 3 1o § years

- Fumniture, fittings and office equi including commissioning cosis) — 3 1o 16 years

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporling period. The expected useful lives of the assets to the business are 1eassessed
penriodically in the light of experience. The carrying valuss of property, plant and equiy ara raviewed for impai when events or changes of
cireumstances indicate the carrying valug may oot be recoverabke. Anitem of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upan disposal or when no futuee
economic benefils are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirentent of an asset is delermined as
the difference behveen the sales praceeds and the carrying amount of (he asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impuirment of tangible and intangible assets

At each balance sheel date, the company reviews the carzrying amounts of its fangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that
thase assets have sulfered an impaimzent loss. IF any such indication ¢xists, the recoverable amount of the assel is estimated in order ta deternine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). Where the assel does nos generale cash flows that are independent from other assets, the company estiniates the recoverable
amaunt of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An intangible asset with au indefinite useful life is tested for impairment at least anally and
whenever there is an indication that the asset may bs impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current macker assessments of the tine value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of fiture cash flows have not been adjusted.

1f the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating anit) is ¢stimaled to be less than ifs carrying ansonnt, the earrying amount of the asset {or cash-
generating unit} is reduced 10 its recoverable amount. An impairment doss is recognised inunediately in the income statement.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the assel (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable antount, but so that the increased carying amount daes not exceed the canying amount that wonld have been detenmined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the assel (or cash-generaling unit) in prior yesrs. A reversal of an impai loss is recognised i diately in profit or loss.

Assets under construction

Development costs which are directly atiributable 1o the development of property are capilalised as part of the cost of the property. The commencement of
capitalisation begins when development costs for the property are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset ready for use are in
progress. Capitalisation ccases when all the activitics that are necessary to prepare tlie gsset for use are complete.

Commissioning costs comprise staff, property, consultancy and operational costs direcily related to the commissioning of new build hospitals. Such costs are
capitalised, provided the asset is determined to be economically viable, up to the point that the conunissioning is comptete and the hospital is fully apen for
business, subsequent to which firther such expendinure is charped to the income . Onge issioned, the asset is reclassified from “Assets under
canstraction” to the relévant property, plant and equipment category and depreciated an a straight line basis in accordance with the estimated useful lives as
outlined it the previons property, plant and equipment significant accounting paolicy.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains g lease, al inception of the contract. The Gronp recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
tease liability with respect to fl lease armangemenis in which it is the lessee, except for shori-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less) and keases of law value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, lie Group

I tses the Lense p ts as 4n operating expense on a stiaight-line basis over the term of the lease unless anolher systematic basis is morc
representative of the time patiern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are cansumed.

“I'he lemse lizbility is initiaily measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencemeunt date, discounted by using the rate
implicit i the lease. 1 this rate cannot be readily deteimined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the Jeage liahiity comprise:

« Fixed lease payments {including in-sul e fixed p ), less any [ease incentives receivable;

« Vagiable Lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
= The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarangees;

» The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably ceitain to exercise the options; and

« Paymenis of pealties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to temtinate the lease.
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1 Sigwificant accounting puolicies {¢ontinved)

Leases
Fhe lease binbility is presented as a separate line in the consolidated stalement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount 1o reflect interest on the lease liability {using the effective interes method)
and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect thie lease payments made.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding [case liability, lease payrnents made at or before the commencement day, less
any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs, They are subsequently measured at cost less accumuiated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group ineurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a [eased asset, restore the site on which it s located or reslore the undedying
asset to the condition 1equired by the terms and conditions of the Jease, a provision is recoguised and micasured under [AS 37. To the extent that the costs
relate 10 a right-of-use asset, the costs are included jn fhe related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventarics.

Riglt-of-use assets ave depreciated over the shortec period of l2ase term and usefu! life of the right-of-use asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-usc assct reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase optiou, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated
over the useful Life of the underlying asset, The depreciation starts at the ¢ nent date of the lease.

The Group applies IAS 36 to ine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impainuent loss as described in the
“Property, Plant and Equipment” policy.

Inventories

inventories, prinianily medical cansumables, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises purchase price less trade discounts, and
is determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Net reatisabte value means estimaied sclling price, Jess all costs incurred in marketing, selling and diswibation.
Qbsofete and slow moving stock is previded for in the income statement.

Where title never transfers to the Group, censignment stock is held off balance sheet.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and eash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, overnight deposits other shori-term highly liquid mvestments with original

mahurities of tliree months or less.

Trade payables

Trade payables arc obligations to pay for goods o services that liave becn acquired in (he ordinary course af business from suppliers. Trade payables are
mitially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, If payment is coutractually not due for more than one year. they are classified
as non-~cufreént liabilities. The derecognition of trade payables when the cbligation is discharged, or cancelled.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables represent amounis due from customers arising from the performance af services or sale of gaods in the ordinary course of business. If
collection is expected in one year or less they are classified as cwrrent assets. Likewise, if collection is expected in over one year then they are classified as
non cureny assets, Trade reccivables are inittally recognised ar fair value and subsequently measured a1 amontised cost, tess provision for inipairment, The
movement in the allowance for impairment is taken ta administrative expenses.

{

The Group and Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables and contract assets. Each entity uses a forniula to calculate the expected credit loss. Trade receivabies have been grouped based on shared
characteristics {¢.g. payer type). Different credit risk ratings have been applicd to cach grouping, including ta reflect that credit risk increases as the aging of’
debt increases.

A different percentage allowance is used for each purchaser fype to reflect the varying credit risk. This percentage allowance reflects the likelihood of .
default, and the anticipated shortfall of cash if default occurs. .

Derecognitien of trade reccivables only accurs when the contractual rights Lo the cashflows from the asset expires, or when tlie asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of the ownership of the assct is transferred to another entity.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

1,

Significant accouniing policies (continyed)

Pension costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit sehemes are charged as an ¢xpense as they fall due. Payments made to slate-managed retirement benefit
scliemes are dealt with as payments to defined contribution schemes where the Company’s abligations under the schemes are equivalent ta those erising in a
defined conwibution retirement beactit scheme.

Thie Group spousors o funded defined benefit pension plan for quatifying UK employees, General Healtheare Group Limited Pension and Life Assurance
Plan. The Plan is adevinistered by GHU (LB) Pension Lrustees Lunted, an mndependent trustee. The Trustee 15 required by law to act in the interest of ol
relevant beneficiacics and is responsiule for the investment palicy for the assets and the day-to-day administration of the benefits.

The Group's defined benefit plan closed to future acciuals and members with effect from 31 August 2008, Under the #lan, employees are entitled ta annual
pensions on retirement at age 65 for each year of service. The level of benefits acerued by members is based en the length of their Pensionable Service and
thieir Pensionable Salaries at the earlier of the date on which they left the Plan or the date at which the Plan closed to tlse future acerual of benefits,

A full actuacial valwation was carricd out as at 30 September 2018, The present value of e defined benefit obligation and the related current service cost
were measured using the projecied unit credit method. The projected unit credit methed is 21 accrued benefits valuation method in which the scheme
liabilities make allowance for projected ¢amings.

During 2019 the Trustees used the schemc assets to procure & bulk annuity to cover the current and future pension Eabilities buy in.

Taxation
Tax expense comiprises current aod defecced tax. The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the year, as adjusted for items which are
taxable or deductible in other accomnting periods and items not taxed or disalinwed. The chiarge is calculated using tax rates that have been enacied ar

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting peried.

Deferred income tax is accounted for using the liability method iu respect of temuporary differznces arising from differences berween the tax bases of assets
and liabililies, and their earrying amaounts iw the consolidated financial statemends, In prnciple, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all laxable
temporary differences and deferred tax agsets are recoguiscd (o the extent that it is probalile that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised, Such assets and liabilities ate not recogaised if the 1emporary difference is due to the initial recognition of goodwill or
from the inirial recognition of ar asset or Jiability in a transaction (otler than a business combination) which at the tine of the wansaction does not affect
either taxable or accounting profit.

Deferred sax liabilities are guised for laxable y differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, except where

the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporay difference and it is prabable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foresccable future,

Deferred income tax assels ad liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offsct current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income lax assets and Liabilities refate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on cither the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected 1o apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled using rates ¢nacted, or
substantively enacted, at the end of the réporting peried. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the fidated inceme except to the extent that it
relates ta items recognised in ather comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recagnised in other comprehensive incame ot
directly in equity, respectively.

Deferred tax assets are recagnised only to the extent that it is probable that furure taxabic profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at cach balance shect date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferved tax asset to be recovered.

Provislans for other liabilitics and charges

Provisious are recognised when the Group or Company has a present obligation i respect of a past event, when it is probable that an outflow of resurces
will be required to settle the obligation aavd it can be reliably estimated, Provisicns are discounted where the time vaiue of money is considersd to be
material, using an appropriate rate that reflects current market assessments of the tinae value of money and the risks specific to te abligation. The wiwinding
of the discount is recopused as a finance ¢ost.

Dividends
Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Company’s financial statements in the period in whichk

the dividends are approved by the Compaisy’s shareholders.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are ¢lassified as equity. Proceeds received, net of any dizectly attributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital {rontinal valuc) and
shar¢ premiun {for any proceeds in exesss of nominal value).
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 {continucd)

3.

Significant accounting palicies {continued)

Loans and other borrawings

Borrowings are initially recopnised at fair value, net af transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subs¢quenthy measured at amortised <ost. Any difference
between the praceeds (net of transaciion costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method

Bornowings are retnoved [rom the balance sheet when (he obligation specified in: the contract is discharged, cancelled or cxpired. The difference berween the
canying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transfecred to another party and the consideration paid, incledmg any non-cash assets
transferred or liabikities psswned, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or finan<e costs.

Banowings are classified as current liabitities unless die Group Lias an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months afier the
Teparting period.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assels and disposal groups are classified as leld for sale only if available for immediate sale in their present condition and a sale is hughly
prabable and expected ta be completed within one year from Fe dale of classification. Sucls assets are measured at the lower of camrying amount and fair
vatue, less the cost of dispesal, 2ad are not depreciated or amartised.

[n accordance with TFRS § Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operatians, the net resulls of discontinued operations are presented
separately in thie consolidated inconie statemneat.

Critical judgements and accounting estimates

In the process of applying the Group’s acceunting policies, die Ditectors make judgements and stimates concerming the future. The resulting dccounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual résults. The judgements and estimates that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recopnised in the consolidated financial , and could have a material impact an the financial statements in the following year, include:

Critlcal judgemients in applying the Group's accaunting palicies

i Tax
The recopition of deferred tax assets is dependent upon management judgement of the fevel of future faxable protils tiat will be available against which

deductibte remparary differences can be utilised. Such a judgement is based on cash flow foresasty that have been generated, along with their expectations of
Future market performence. In the event that actual taxable profits are different, such differences may impact the carying value of such defered tax asseis in
future years Based on the estimates used in determining the deferred tax asset position there remains £100.9 million unrecognised.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

Critical judgemeats and accounting estimates {continued)
Critical accounting cstim ates and assumptions

The key assumptions and estimates at the end of the 1eposting periad, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the canying amounts of
assels and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

i.  Impairment of assets

Property, pfant and equipment, Right of Use assets, and other intanpible assets are considered for impairment if there is any reason to beligve that
impairment may be necessary, based on the judgement of management. All haspital fixed assets arc allacated into cash-generating units (CGUs), being each
individual hospital operation, and tested for impairment, if any indicators of impairment exist.

A 31 Deceanber 2021, Property, plont and equipment, Right of Use, and other intangible assets were idered for impai The Gtoup d the
recoverable values of each CGU using forecasts of the profilability and the anticipated mai -« capital expenditure for cach hospital. Refer to note 13
for sensitivities performed.
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4. Revenue
An apalysis of the Graup's revenus is as follows:

Continuing aperations
Provision of healtheare services by custamer
FPrivate medical insurers
NHS
Self-pay
Contract revenue and other

All revenus anises from the same principal activity ia the United Kingdom.

5. Exceptional administrative expenses

021 2020
£2000 £'000
415,483 403,852
364,625 428,178
218,740 129,754
42,794 23,092
1,051,642 984,876

Inceme statement Tax impact Income statement Tax impact

2021 2021 2020 2020

£'000 £4900 £000 £°000

[mpaizment losses 7,391 - 36,626 -
Acquisition costs 4,101 - 1,383 -
Other exceptional itens 117 (22} 3115 (592)
11,608 (21} 41,124 (592)

in both the current and prior year, the exceptional costs recegnised were in relation to impairment charges fallowing the annval impairment review of the assets
cartied oul at the year end. See tote 13. Acqusilion and alher exceptional items recagnised relate to legal and profésssional fees associated with the acquisition

of BMI Healthcare and the integration of the acquisition, and site cinsure costs.

Cash_flow impact of exceptionals

The cash flow impact for non-recurring acquisition costs was an outflew of £2,8%3,000 (2020: £1,383,000) The cash flow impact of other exceptional items

was an outflaw of £117,000 {2020; £3,115.000),
6 Operating profit for the year

Operating profit is stated after charging/{crediting):

Amortisation ofintangible assets (nate [1)
Depreciation of property, plant and ¢quipment {note 13)
Cost of stock recognised az expense

Aunditor's cemuneration (see below)

Movement in provision for bad debts (nole 18)
Operating lease charges

Exceptional aperating itenis (note 5)

Remuneration payable to the company's audilar :

Fees payable to Company's auditor for the parent Company and
consolidated financial statéments

Fees paynble 1o the Company's auditor for ather services
- The audit of Company's subsidiaries
— Advisory services

2021 2020
£'000 £000
11,805 9,888
93,651 92,428
191,976 148,132
733 6§26
(633) 3,884
4 1,551
11,609 41,124
2025 2020
£:000 £2000
195 119
535 504

3 3

733 626

e e
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statenmients
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

7. Staff costs

The average monthly number of employess (including executive directors) was:

2021 2020
Namber Nunsber
Manapement and sdmiuigtrative 599 397
Clinical and hospital suppart 7,875 7436
8,474 7,813
Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
2021 2020
£000 £'000
Wages and salaries 327,655 277,529
Social secwily costs 26,179 22,343
Olher pension costs (see note 30} 10,037 9214
363,871 309,086
Appregate divectars® remuneration
The directors of the Company are deemed to be key management personnel to the Company
‘The total amounts for direclors’ temuneration in accordance with Schedule 5 1o the Accounting Regulations were as follows:
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
Salaries, fzes, bonuses and benefits in kind 2,671 2,098
Company pension contributions to defined coniribution scheme 6 27
2,677 2,125

Directors’ emnluments relate to the Non-Execative and Executive Directors, who are remunerated by Circle Health Holdings Limited and Cirgle Health
Limited.

Post-employment benefils are accruing for one director (2020; two directors) under a defined contribution scheme.

Emaluments disclosed include the foliowing amounts paid o the highest paid director:

2021 020
£1000 £¢00
Total salary and other benefits L4 390
Company pension contributions to defined centribution schemes § 10
Highest director aggregate enotuments 1,120 1,000

The Directors of the compauy ar¢ also directors or officers of a number of otler companies within the ultimate parent group (the Group), and are remunerated
in respect of services provided to the Circle Health Holdings Group. The Directors do not consider the time spent ou dealing with individual company’s matters
to be materiel and therefore bave not sought to sepazate out their costs in respect of services to cach individual company in the Cirele Health Holdings Group.
The amounts disclosed above are the Direciars' total emoluments as per their employment contracts.

8. Finance income
202 2010
£4100 £'000
54 481

Interest incone

54 431
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9. Finance costs

Interest expense wider RS 16 o1 lease liabilities (note 17)
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans
Interest on converuble loan notes

10. ‘Tax on loss on ordinary activities:

The tax charge/{credit) is based on (he foss for the year and comprises:
Carporation income tax:

Current tax at 19%

Adjustment in respect of prior yearg
Deferred tax;

Current year charge/(credit)

Adjustment in respect of prior years

Total tax on lass on ordinary activitis

The chargecredit) for the year can be reconciled fo the loss per the income statement as follows:
Loss before tax:

Total operations

Less: assaciate companies’ profit

Group loss on ordinary activities o coutinuing operations before tax

Tax at the UK corporation lax rofe of 19%

Effects of

Exp that are aot deductible in detenmining taxable profit
Incame that is nat taxable

Disposal of subsidiary

{Recomution)yderecognition of trought forwvard tax attributes
Deferred tax not recognised

Losses carried forward

Other reliefs

Effects of change in rate of tax

Adjustment to tax chargedcredit) in respect of previous periods

Tax charge/{credit) and effective tax rate for the year on continuing operations

2021 2020
£4000 £1900
119,366 115,504
£8,018 21,008
. 2
137376 36,515
2021 2020
£000 £000
(821) 3,889
202 (69)
1,719 (6,318)
174 (370)
1,274 (2,863)
(51,402) (61,748)
(4,108) (1,496)
(55,507) {63,244)
(10,546) (12,016)
1,069 385
(1,827 .
(618) -
7,929 (165)
(410} {909}
3,085 9,387
- (9109
1216 1,808
376 (439)
1274 (2,868)

The tax rate for the current year and prior ysaris 19.0%. The Finance Act 2021 has increased the rate of corporation 1ax to 25.0% from 1 April 2023. As this

change was sibstantively enacted at the brlacce sheet date its effect has been included in these financial statements.

However, in the Chancellor's budget of 23 September 2022 the sbove mte increase was cancelled, Whilst this change is not reflected in the tax charge above,

its effect would be to reduce the tax charge by £2,216,000, to a credit of £343,000.

e e
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued}

n.

Lotargible assets

The amortisation charge for the year is included within the Consalidated Statensent of Compreliensive Income withia administrative expenses before
exceptionat items.

Contracts and
Stalwhalder Coamputer

Cost Brand velationships software Total

£:000 £'000 £000 £'400
As at 31 December 2019 15,600 3,600 1445 20,645
Acquisitions (Note 27) 5,008 37,000 2,700 44,700
Additions - - 6,224 5,224
As at 31 Becember 2020 20,600 40,600 10,369 71,569
Additions - - 1,022 1,022
Transfers from tangible fived assets - - 544 544
As at 31 December 2021 20,600 40,600 11,933 73,135
Accunmulated amortisation and imypairment
As at 31 December 2009 2,946 1,067 10té 5.029
Amortisation charge for the period 2,019 4,425 344 9,888
Asg at 31 December 2020 4,965 5,492 4,460 14,517
Amoitisation charge for the period 2,040 4,501 5,254 11,803
As at 31 December 2021 7.005 10,003 9,714 26,720
Met ook amount
At 31 December 2020 15,635 35,108 5,909 56,652
At 31 December 2021 13,595 30,597 2,221 46,413

Intangible asscts that are subject to amaisation ere considered for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carying amount may
not be recoverabls.

Contracts and Stakelolder relationships
Circle halds several contracts with a number of CCGs which allow the Company fo provide specific clinical services. The contracts atiract vahie given the

exchusivity they provide Circle with regard to service provision

The value of these conbacts are amortised over nine years from April 2017, the date that they were acquired, which represents the estimated remaining
gcononic uzeful life of the contracts,

On the scquisition of BM1 a further £37 million was recognised under this category, which represents relatianships with practising medical professionals held
by BMT as at the 8 January 2020, This asset is being antortised over nine years.

Brand
Circle has a well-knewn and respected brand in the areas where it operates hospitals. It is also known seross the UK in the healthears indusiry among

cousultams and suppliers.

The value of the brand is amartised over 15 years from April 2017, whick represents the estimated remaining economic useful life of the brand. The value of
the Circle brand is apportioned across the different cash generating units (CGUs) of the Group.

On the acquisition of BMI a further £5 million was recognised under this category, which represents accounting valus attributed to the BM! Healthcare biand.
This is being amartised over five years.

Computer software
Computer software represents costs inciured in relation to the Group's information technology systems and is heing amodised over two years.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

12, Gondwill
£'000

Net Book Amount as at 3! December 2019 30,013

Recognised on acquisition of 2 subsidiary (note 27) 117465

Net Book Amount 5 at 31 Decenber 2026 147478

Net Book Amount a5 at 31 December 2021 147,478
Goodwill is subjeet to imgainment testing eunually, or more fiequently where there ace indications (hat the gaodiwill may be impaired. The recoverable amounts
of all cash generting units (CGUs) are determined based on value in use caleulations, using discounted pre-1ax cash flow projections based on ruanagement
approved fivancial forecasts for the period ofthe contract. The key assumptians for these forecasts are those r¢lating to revenue growth and decline, based on
past experience ahd expectations of future changes in relevant CGUs The Group prepares cash fow forecasts derived fiom the most recent fnanciat plans
approved by management for die peried of the contract,

The time period over which managemens has projected cash flows varies based on ¢ach CGU, based on the financial plans approved by management. This
takes into considerstion contract fengthis. Any prajections for fulure years eyond the periad in financial plans approvad by management are éxtrapolated ata
growth rate of 2% based on past axperience and fuwure expectations. The discount rte used is 8,38% (2020: B.64%), which is the estimated weighted average
cost of capital for the Group, The financial plaos reflect past experience and incorparate assumptions in terms of volumes, the mix of palient treatments and
tarff changes.

‘The Group hias conducted a seusitivity analysis on the canrying value of cach of the CGUs. Theve are 10 reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions
that eould cause i camrying value of the C{IU to exceed its recoverable amounts.

Based on the result of the value in use calculations undentaken, the Direciors conclude that the regoverable amount in the integraicd care and private hospitals
LGUs exceed their carrying valise,

Allocation of Goodwill to each CGU

2021 2020

£100 £1000

Private hosgitals (including BM] Healthcare business acqetisition) 146,638 146,688
Integrated cars 790 790
147,478 147,478

Goodwill has been allocated to sach CGU based on an implied purchase price for each CGU during the aequisition by Circle Health Holdings Linuited, and the
net asseis lield by each CGL at that time. A discounted cash flow approach was used to assist in allocating the purchase price to those CGUs.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 {continued)

13. Property, plast and equipnient

_ __ . Bightofuscawes

Fuamiture, Furniture,
Buildiags and Nittings and fittings and
Asseis under leaschold Clinical ollfice Clinical affice
Cost coustruction improvements quip | ir ildings equinment. equipment Tota
£000 £'00d £'600 £'000 £7400 £'000 £'000 £000
At 1 Jonuary 2020 3814 2,087 3141 1577 221 5 1,752 £17,360
Additions 20,821 13,406 13,003 L4y 51,664 1,730 7! 116,024
Acquisitian of subsidiary (Note 22) 10,445 3,745 58,514 5277 1,528,803 7583 - 1,701,931
Disposals - (1 {1311 N 623) {1050y - 13.396)
Heclassified as held tor sale {rate 32) - - (12,657) {1.142) (24,985 - - (38784
Al Drecember 2010 gnd 1 January 2011 35,100 108,867 58,590 9,041 1,661,132 15,392 1,813 LA93,HS
Additions 25,811 15430 5632 5,384 45,128 19,762 - 131,169
Disposals {38) n [£x)] 2) (64,036) - (2,285) {66,412)
Trensfers (2,370% 5338 (1673 {2,668) - {1,37%) 2,718 -
Trans(crs Lo Blangible assels 54y - - - - - - B34)
At 31 Deceniber 202( 57,981 133,623 71,527 [TEES 1,644,224 782 2,266 1,957,258
Furniture, Furpiture,
Euildings and Fidlings and fittings and
Assets under leaschold Chinjcm office Clinical affice
Accumulaied depreciadon and impaioment construction e i ipment Buildings equipment equipment Tatal
£°000 £'000 [4131] £000 £000 £'0n00 1000 £'000
AL January 2010 . {2,007y (2,979} (2472} {8,37%) (309 {229 (16,371)
Depresiation change Fir the year - (3126 (14490 16,915} @131 3270 (263 (92.433)
Disposals - - - - 200 i - 412
Impuirment - “35) o8y @1} auin) a1 - (36.627)
On assets teclassified a5 hefd for sale (Note 32) . - e L0935 4,734 - - 12211
At31 Ducember 2026 and ( Jamuory 2011 B (7,568 [ ) (37,886) .658) ws T (13nd6n
Dreprecialiou cherge for the yaar - {10,701y {16,308) {1,541) {61,539) (3917 ©=3) (93.651)
Dispasals - - 16 1 4,776 . 1028 5821
Transfess - - (283) 6i9 - 263 &19) -
Tmpaitment {charge Yirgversal (2,632) 435 61 91 (7.250) 1,289 - {7,390y
At 31 December 202 {2,631 {17,836) 22,415) (9,217} {160,319] 19,063) (508) (£22.543)
Net hoak amaunt
131 December 2020 35,100 i0f 299 52253 753 1365246 5694 L331 1,763,682
At 31 Decanber 263) S5HE 115,787 50,112 1643 183,303 25719 1,760 L731676

The Group has cenducted a sensitivity analysis on the tangible and intangihie assels impatrment test of the CGUSs and the group of units carrying value, as follows:

« If the pre-tax WACC rate was increased/decreased by 0.5 percentage point, the overal] inpairment would increasefdecrease by £0.0 / £6.0 million
» If the long tern growih rate was increased/decreased hy 0.5 percentage point, the overall impaimient would decrease/increase by £0.0 / £0.0 million

The cashflow forecasts used in the prior year impaiment reviews were reviewed against acrzal performance. lmpaément tests were performied using the recoverable
amounts of the agsets’ cash-generating units. Each hospital is deemed to he its ovn CGU. The discount rate used in measuring value in use was 8.38% per annum (pre-
tax) {2020: 8.64%). The Company also estimated the fair value less costs of disposal of these assets, which is based on the recent market prices of assets with similar age
and absolescence. The fair value less costs of disposal is fess than the value in use and hence the recoverable amount of ihe relevant assets has been determined on the

basis of their valug in use.

The review led th a nureber of reversals of impairment due to im provements in local market conditions/factors or renegotiated lease agreements. CGUSs that recorded an
impairment charge was as a result of specific local market conditions inpacting volume of future trading. The impairment charge. for the year was £11.3 million (2020
£36.6 million) and the impaitment reversal was £3.9m (2020: £nil), with the net impairment charge of £7.4 miliion (2020: £36.6 million) recognised in profit or loss.
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1. Subsidiavies

Details of the investnients in which the parent holds 20.00% or mors of the naminal vatue of any class of share capital and quasi subsidiaries are as follows:

Company name

Propordon of
vating riglits

Share

Registered office

Nature of husiness

Treld class
Circle uternational ple 100% Holding
CHG Management Services Limited 100% Holding and management
Nations Healtheare Limited 100% Holding
Circle Notiingham Eimited 100% Provision of healthcare services
Circle Haspital (Reading) Limited 100% Provision of healtheare services
Circle Birmingham Limited 160% Pravision of healtheare services
Circle Rehabilitation Services Limited 100% Provision af healtheare services
Circle Healtls [ Limited 100% Helding
Circle Health 2 Limited 166% Ralding
Circle Health 3 Limited 100% Holding
Circle Health 4 Limited 100% Holding
GHG Healiheore Holdings Linited L00% Holding
Bishopswood SPV Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
Cirote Health Group Linnted 100% Provisicn of healtheare services
Circle Decontamination Limited 100% Provision of decontnminatian services
BMI Syou Clinic Limited 50% Ordinary Ist Floor ?0 Cannon Street, Provision of healthcare services
BMI Imaging Clinic Lintited 50% shares Londen, England, Provision of healthcare services
B Southend Private Hospitak Limited 50% EC4M 6XH Frovision of healthcare services
Mleriden Hospital Advanced [maging Centre Limited 50% Pravision of healthcare services
Three Shires Hospital LLP 50% Provision of healthcare services
Geueral Healthcare Holdings (2) Limited 100% Investment holding
General Healthcare Holdings (3) Limited 160% Investment holding
GHG (DB) Pension Trustaes Limitad 160% Pension Trustee
GG Intermediate Holdings Limited 100% Investment holding
GHG Leasing Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
North West Cancer Clinic Limited 90% Provision of healtheare services
Runnymiede PV Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
South Cheshire SPV Limited 100% Pravision af healthcare services
GHG Mount Alvemia Hospital Limited 190% investment holding
Generale de Sante International Limited 100% Investment holding,
Circle Clinigal Services Limited 100% Provision of healtheare services
TKH Holding Lid 100% Holding
Circle Health MyWay Limited 100% Hezlth plan subscription services
i o cl iff R London,
Cirele Harmony Health Limited 30% Sh:iw E?:;;:nicb‘:’\l::i (QZL.P ord, Landon, Manageroen services
Cirele Holdings Limited 100% fh':m“’:“ éf (I:-I::SI:L_:SJ::;L Halding
Circle Harmony Health Limited 50% S::"::'y ﬁioiﬁ'ggﬁmﬁugz (l:?ong Management services
- . . Rml 145, 11/F, Carlton Bldg, No 21
i?:;il;ﬂl Circle Harmony Hospital Maragement 50% g;:‘smy Huanghe Road, Huangpu District, Managenienl services

Shanghai, China
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1. Subsidiaries {continued)

Subsidiavy audit exemption

The following UK subsidiary undertakings are exempt from the reguirements of the Campanies Act 2006 (the Act} relating to the audit of individual accounts by virue

of section 479A of the Act

Company nanie

CHG Managentent Services Limited
Nations Healthcare Limited

Circle Notingham Limited

Circle Hospital {Reading) Limited

Circle Rehabilitation Scrvices Limited

Circle Health 1 Limited
Circle Health 2 Limited
Circle Health 3 Linvited
Circle Health 4 Lumited

Genera! Healtheare Holdings Group Limited

GHG Healtheare Holdings Linuted
Bislopswood SPV Limited

BMt Hospital Decontamination Limited
Geueral Healthcare Holdings (2) Limited
General Healthcare Holdings {3) Limited

GHG Intermediate Holdings Linyitad
GHG Leasing Limited

North West Cancer Clinic Linited
Runnymede SPV Limited

Circle Health Holdiongs Limited will guarantee gll gulstanding habilities that these subsidiari¢s a2 subject to as at the financial year end 31 December 2021 in

Company wumber

05042771
04523677
05153608
06995585
10527747
12108493
12108525
12188431
12258549
04026079
05740193
04252401
46003075
04026992
04062897
04210585
01551992
05706220
04252392

accordance with section 473C of the Companies Act 2006 as amended by the Companies and Linuted Liability Partnerships (Accounts and Avdit Exemptions and

Changes of Accounting Framework) Regulations 2012.
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15. Investments

Shares in associates Toral
£'000
Cost
At 1 fanuary 2021 3,407
Share of profits during the year 4,185
Dividends received (2450)
At 3] December 2421 5,141
Provyision lor inapairnent
Atl Jansary 2021 N
[mpairment -
At 31 December 2021 -

Net book value
At | January 2021
At 31 Decembeyr 2021

16. Inventaries

2021 2020
£7000 £°600
Consumahtes 17,276 16,884

There is 10 significant difference benween the replacement cost of consumables and their canying amount. At 31 December 2021, an amount of £3.2 million (2020
£3.5 million] has been provided against the gross cast of invenlories.

17. Leases {Group as a lessee)

The Group has lease contracts far hospitals, fumiture, fittings and office equipment, and clinical equipment. The amaownis recogniszd in the firancial stotenents in
relation 1o these are as fallows:

Amnounis recognised in the statement of finaucial position 2021 2020
£7000 £000
Right-ol-use asseis
Buildings 1,483,308 1,565,246
Tumiture, fittings and office equipment 1,760 1,331
Clinical equipment 25,71% 2,694
1,510,785 1,576,271
Lease liabilities
Current (8,865) {7,117)
Non-cusreat (1,668,021) (1.605,687)
T1.674,086) (1,672,301
See nate 33 for the future cashflows of leases liabilities aver the remaining term of the feases.
Amourtis recognised in the statement of comprehensive incame
2021 020
£'000 £004
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Buildings 60,559 62,323
Fyrniture, fitings and office equipment 423 263
Clinical equipment 3,917 3,370
64,899 65,956
2021 2020
Amncunis recognised in profit and foss £000 £000
Degpreciation expense on night-of-use asscts 64,899 65,956
Luterest expease on lease liabilities 119,364 115,504
Expense refating to short-term leases - 1,123
Expense relating to leases of low value assets 4 429

The total cash outflow for leases during the peried amaunt to £126 niillinn (2020: £120 million).
The Group leases several assets including buildings, plant and clinical equipment. Tlie average lease tenn is 26 years {2020: 27 years).

The Graup has options to extend lease term, as well as purchase certain equipment for a nominal emount at the ¢nd of the lease tenn. The Group’s obligations are secured
by she lessors titl to the leased assets for such Jeases.

e A ST e 1

A en

e Y PR R T



Page 43

Cirele Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements ;
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (continued)

18, Trade and ather receivables

Curreat Current
1021 2020 3
£'000 £000 4
Trade receivables 67,219 56,521 f:
Less: provision for impairment {3,751) _(4,384) F
Net trade receivables 63,168 52,137 H
Prepayments and accrued income 2,181 2,760 4
Other receivables 9,510 21613
Tax receivable 553 -
75,712 76,515
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
2011 2020 %
£000 £000 ;
Al | January 4384 500
{Decrease) / increase in the year (633} 3884
A1 31 December 3,751 4,384

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year is 1eflected within administrative expenses in the income
staterienl

At 31 Decenber, the ageing analysis of trade receivables was as follows:

2021 2020 :

£000 £'000 :

Not past due 44,178 31,673 ]
Past due 0-30 days 6,762 7,706
Past due 31-60 days 817 2,768
Past due by more than 60 days 9718 9,99¢
63,468 52,137

Trade receivabtes, from contracls with custonters, are non-interest bearing and credil terms are generally 30 days. The above receivables are not impaired
because managedient believe they are fully recoveralle.

As per IFRS 9, the Group follows the simplifizd approach to calculating 2 loss atlowance for trade and other zeceivables.

Each site uses a formula to calculate the expected credit loss ("ECL"). The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by
reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current financiat position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general econamic conditions of the industry in which the debtars operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date. Trade receivables have been grouped based on shared characteristics (e.g. payer type). This weighting is used as it reflects the risk of credit
risk, as this risk increases when the age increases, i

A different percentage allowanee is used for cach purchaser type to reflect the varying credit risk, Thig percentage allowance reflects the likelihoed of default,
and the anticipated shortfall of cash if default oceurs.

Tle Group has not significantly changed the expected loss rates for trade receivables from the prior year based an its judgewnent of the impact of economic
conditions and tlie forecast direction of travel at the reporting date. There has been no change in the estimation techniques during the cwrent reporting period.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recavery, € g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into hankruptey proccedings, or when the trads receivables are aver hwo years
past due, whichever accurs earlier. None of the ade receivables that have been writter off is subject to enforcement activities.

As the Group®s historical credit Joss experience does not strow significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the pravision for less
allowance based an past due status is not finther distinguished between the Group’s different customer segments.

The Directors consider the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximate to their fair value.
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19. Borrowings
Nor-current Notscurrent
2021 2020
£1000 £'000
Lanns 219,848 209,348
Prepaid finance coses {5,410) {7,963)
214,038 211,885
Seonred banawings are measired at amariced rost.
Maturity profile
Greater than 4
1011 years Total
£°000 £*000
Loans. 219,848 219,848
219848 115,848
——
Greater than ¢
2020 years Total
L7000 £000
Loans 219,848 219,848
219,848 219,848

20. Defel

During the year the benclimark rate for the loans transilioned from LIBOR to SONIA. There was no material impact as a result of this change. The
de'st was refinanced as described in nate 34,

(i} The Group had three principal bank loans et the balance sheet due
(@) alaan of £178m {2020: £178m) The loan is repayable in full on 7 January 2027, The loan carries interest rate at 6.5 per cem above SON[A
s at 31 December 2621 (2020: 7 per cent above LIBOR)
(b) a loan of £20m {2020: £20m). The loan is repayable in full on 7 July 2026 The loan cairies interest rate a 3.25 per cent above SONTA asat 31
December 2021 (2020; 7 pex cent above LIBOR)
(c} a loan of £20m (2020: £20m). The loen is repayable in fill on 7 January 2027. The loan carries interest rate al 6.5 per cent above SON1A as al
31 December 202 (2020; 7 per cent above LIBOR).

See note 34 for detay] of changes to the Group's financing aangenients afler the balance sheet date.
rred tas

The following are Ihe major deferred tax |iabilities and assets recognised by e group and movements thereon during the cucrent and pricr reporting
period.

Charge Effects of change

Al Adjusiments { (eredit) ta in tax rate Al3]
January to income for income ta income December
2021 prinar periods. slatertient staiement 2021
£000 £000 1000 £000 OGO
Accelerated tax deprecintion (12,316) 2,602 6,595 (985) (4,104
Other timing differences (3,793) - (521) {1,394) (5.808)
Leases 19,671 408 {14,520 1,756 7,315
Land and buildings 8,694 - (397) 2,620 14,919
Intangible assels 9642 - (1,501 2570 10,111
Dierivatives 23435 - (4,536) 3,894 22,393
Tax losses 136,095) (2,836) 14,883 (6,245) (30,293)
Net deferred tax lighility 9,240 174 (457 2216 11,133

Deferred tax balences have been remcasured at the rales they are expected to reverse, which is mainly at 25%. However, in the Chancellor’s Budget of
23 September 2022 the enacted rate increase was cancelled  Whilst this change is nat reflected in the deferred tax movement abave, its effect would
be 1o reduce the deferred tax Hability by £2,216,000, to £8,517,000

Certain deferred tax assets and liabiliies have been ofTset. The following is the snalysis of the deferred (ax balances {after offset) for financial
reporting purposes:

2021 2020
£000 000
Deferrad tax Liabilitieg 51,337 61,443
Deferrad tax assets {40,204} (52,203
11,133 924G

A deferred tax liabiliy of £16,919,000 {2020; £8,696,000) has been recognised in respect of fixed assets that have been acquired as part of business
combinations. Of this amauet, £11,212,000 (2020: £8,518,000) represents the deferred tax liability on the vatue of assets that will be recovered
through use and £293,000 (2020: £232,000) the deferred tax asset that is anticipaled to erysiallise an an evenlual sale of the remaining assets at their
net baak value

T AT 2T
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Pogs 17

70, Deferred tax {continued)

Dreferred tax assels relating to tax Josses of £100,131,000 (2020 £70,758,000), and capital losses of £591,000 (2020: £591,000) have not been

recognised as there 1s insutlicient evidence that the assets will be recoverad

The deferred tax asset nol recognised in the Buancinl statements is as follovws:

202E 2021 2020 2020
Tax value Gross value Tax value Gross value
£000 £000 £000 £000
Tax Josses carried forward 100,108 400,431 70,758 172,411
Capital lasses e 3L 91 3.1
Deductible temparary differances — fixed assels 157 619 120 629
105,043 404,170 71,469 376,150

Deferred tax assets on losses have been recognised in accordance wath 1AS 1210 order 10 ofiset known Lax habilities. Whilst prefils are anticipated in
future periods against which 1 offset additional bronght forward tax losses, due to the history of loss making and ihe uncertainties faced by the private
health markei and the sensitivity of this market 1o the Covid pandemic no deferred tax asset has been recognised on the basis of future profitability.

‘This will cantinue to be monitored at sach balance sheet dale.

Temporary differences arising in connection with i in and jaini

21. Trade and other paynbles

are insignificant

2421 1020
£'900 £000
Trade payables 92596 89,117
Acervals 70,211 77,602
Sccial security and other taxation 250 138
Other payables 6,652 8,15%
Tax payable - 3,438
169,709 178,454
The average credit days is 40 days (2020: 52 days)
12, Provisious
Provision for Futore pension Dilapidations
legal claims comnmiitmenes provision Tatal
£'000 £'000 £7000 £'a00
Al | January 2021 16,856 190 1,450 18,296
Additiosal provision in the year 2,205 - - 2,208
Uulisatsan of provision (3,136) (16) (125) {3,297y
At 31 Decembier 2021 15,725 154 1,325 17,204
OF which falling due’
- within one year 15,728 36 1,325 17,086
~ subsequantly - 118 - 113

As is usual in the sector, the Graup 15 subject to & number of legal claims. Provision has been made far the estimated costs of settienent, based on
management's best estimate on a case-by-case basis of the cutcomes of settlements, either in or out of court, and vsing a prajection of the eosts of elaims

incurred but not yet reported.

The defined benefit pension scheme provision represents the Graup's estimated fture contributions to two defined benefit pension schemes.

The dilapidations provision refates to amaounts due in relation to various buildings that were vacated during prior years.
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23, Contracts with customers: nef assel

Unbilled raceiyab] revenue s ised on contracts less associated discounts These amouats will be billed i accordance walh agreed-upon

n
contractual teems upon completion of treatment 1o patients.

Conlract labilities consist of advance payments and billkngs to patients in excess of services provided and costs incurred and warvanlies an services
performed. Advance payments and billings are typically essociated with our self pay patienrs. All contract Jiabilities are current.

All halances showm helow are inelnded in nate 18, teade and ather receivahles

2021 2020

£'000 £'000

Unbilled revenge 7,816 3377
Advance payments on seli’ pay patients {5,625} {1,178)
2,191 2199

The contract asset batance shown is gross of any impairment losses Impairmient losses for Irade receivahles are ealenlated using a methodology looking at
billed and unbilled revenuc collectively and therefore the provision on Lhe asset balance shown is included within the net trade debtocs balanes shown in
nate 19

LA RS e el B L
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3
24, Share capital and share premium E
Y
Authorised 2021 2020 ;
£ £ 4
Ordinary shares [Class A Ordinary Shares} of £0.01 each 945 945 L
Ordinary shares {Class B Ordinary Shares) of £0.01 each 100 1o¢ :
Ordinary shares {Class C Ordinary Shares) of £0.01 exch 16 10 v
Preference shares of £0 01 wach 19,851 19,851 5
0,906 20,506 j~.
Allatted and fully paid up )
Par value Shares Share capilal Share premiun Totat f
DOrdinary Class A shares, {number) £ i i F
At I January 202) 0.0 94,478 945 129,812,448 124,313,393 L
At 31 December 2023 04,478 545 129,317,448 125,313,393 ]
Par value Shares Share capital Share premiam Talal
Ordinasy Class B shares: {number) £ £ £
Al 1 Japuary 202} 0.0l 19,000 100 399,162 399262
Al 31 December 2021 10,000 100 399,162 39%.262
Par value Shares Share capital Share premium Tatal :
Ordinary Class C shares: {number) £ £ £ i
Al 1 Januasy 2021 0,01 1,060 ¢ - 1a X
At 31 December 2021 1000 10 - 14
Par value Shares Share capital Share preatum Talal
Preference shares. {(numker) £ £ £ h
At 1 January 2021 0.0 1,985,075 19,851 71,264,290 71,284,341 3
At 31 December 2021 1,985,073 19,851 78,264,398 71,284,241
Allatted and fully paid up
Par value Shares Share capiial Share premiunt Total
Ordinary Class A shares {number) £ £ £
At 1 Jannary 2020 o.at 94,472 945 3,727,755 3,728,704
Shares issued Q.01 - - 126,084 689 126,084,689
At 31 December 2020 94,478 945 129,812,448 129,813,353
Par value Shares Share capital Share premium Total
Ordinary Class B shares: {umbery £ £ £
At t January 2026 001 10,000 100 195,162 399,262
At 31 December 2020 10,000 100 359,162 345,262
Par value Shares Share capital Share premium Tatal
Qrdinary Class C shares® {number) £ £ £ i
At | January 2020 0.01 750 8 - 8 B
Sliares issued 0 250 2 - 2 E
At 31 Decemnber 2020 1,000 16 - 10 ’
Par value Shares Share capiial Shave premium Total N
Preference shares, {number) £ £ £
Al 1 January 2020 0.0l 1,985,075 19,851 71,264,390 71,284,248
Al 3] Decersber 2030 1,985,075 13,351 71,264,390 71,384,241
3 i
The rights of shares are contained in the Company’s Arlicles of Assaciation and sununarised below. :
Vating :
The holders of A and B shares have the rigli to vote lheir shares at any general meeting of the Company. The halders af the Preference and € shares have |
ra entitlenent ko vote their shaces at ay geveral meeticg of the Company but rave the right to vale a class meeting of the Preferance and C shares, i
respectively. ¢
Income :

The holders of Preference Shares have the right to dividends deciarad by the Company, provided that the amount of any dividend, in aggregate with other
dividends and distributions to the haolders of Preference Shares, [s not in exeess of the paid up amount of those shares. Subject to any priority distribution
of profits amangst the holders of Preference Shares, the holders of A and B shares shall recetve dividends pro rata to the paid up amounl of those shares.
The holders of C shares hiave no rights to receive dividends.
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24, Share capital and share premium {contitiued)

Capual

The rights of hoiders of different classes of shares to capital under different seenarios, including cxit events, afe set out in the Company’s Articles. The

priority of eapital is: to helders of Prefecence Shares, up Lo the paid up amount of those shares; ta halders of A and B shares, with the distribution between
shares contingent on the nature of the event, the amount involved and the retarns to defined groups of holders of A and B shares, finally, to C shares, wilh ]
the entitlement to holders being contingent on the nature of the event and if' the amount assaciated with the exit event involved is in excess of defined {
return hurdles ta other shareholders, in which case the C shares bave the right to participate m retuns above defuned hurdles. 3

During the year, MH Services Internalional {UK) Limited, which held 40 par cent of the equity of the Company, acquured the remaining 50 per cent. This
included acquiring all shares held by Direclors of the Company and ather emplayees of the Group. Alt these shares had been acquired by these individuals
at fair velue from other shareholders i prior perieds These arrangements fall within the scape of IFRS 2 and are treated as an cquity-settied share based
transaction. 1IFRS 2 requircs the fair valuc at grant date of equity-setiled share-based payment transactions to be expensed over the vesling period with a
carresponding increase in equity, taking into account the best available estinmate of the nomber of shares expected to vest under the service conditions As
the shares filly vested in the year, a charge of £213,000 was made to Lhe income staternent with a corresponding credil in equity.

25, Nen-contrelling interests

There are nva invesaments where non-controlling parties exist BMI Syan Clinic Limited, and North West Canger Clinic Limited A summary of {inancial
information for non~controlling interests are given below.

2021 2020 ;
£'000 £000 4
Total assets 4,536 4,455 .
Toial liabilities (1,052) (1,917) :
Net assels 348 2,582
Profit for the period 336 £46
Net cash outllow (6) {823) X

Associated undertakings and equity accaunted joint ventures

The Group accounts for all s imvestments in associates and joint veutures in its consolidated Bnancial statements using the equity method, as st out in

nate 3 ?
2021 2020 {

£'000 £000 r

At beginning of the year 3382 160 i
Share of profits during the year +210 1,192 F
i

Gross 4421 1,403
Tax (211 211

Dividends received (1,450) {1,400)
Acquizition of investment in asacciate - 3430
At end of the year 5,142 3,382
Aggregated associates and joint veatures information is as follows:
2621 1020

£'000 £'040
Revenue 30,733 25,498
Profit before tax &157 3205
Tax (423), (291)
Prafit atter tax 5,834 2,014 ;
Property, plant and equipnient 7,508 1,54 :
Current assels 10,574 9,485 N
Current Liabilities 5,874 8457 t
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28, Pisposa) of subsidiary

Tn early 2021, the Group entered into 4 sale agreement to sell Cirele Hapsital {Bath) Litd and the transaction completed on 1 June 2021 The divestment was
effectad as part of the agreed remedy Following the CMA crder issued as a result of the Group's acquisition of BMI Healthcare in 2020,

The net liabilities of Cirele Hospiral (Bath) Lid at the date of disposal were as follows.

021
£'000
Property, plant and equipment 21,330
Inventories i
Trade end other receivables 1,852
Bank balances and cash 1,063
Trade and other payables (26,284)
Net liabilities disposed aff {1,418)
(Fain oa disposal 3,267
Tatal consideration 1,851
Satisfied by
Cash and cash equivatents 15851
Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 1,851
Less' cash and cash equivalents disposed of {1,063)
788

There were no disposals of subsidiaries made in 2020,

e L st ——
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27

18,

Acqguisition ol subsidiaries

06 24 December 2019, the Company entered into share purchase agreements to asquice GHG Holdings Limited, the holding company of the BM1
Heaithcare group {"BMT’) (the *Transaction’}. The Transactien formally compicted on & January 2020; therefore, priar to 8 January 2020 the Group was
camprised of Cirele Health Haldings Limited and its subsidiaries as listed in the 2019 financial year statulary accounts {'Pre Transaction Group™).

Fromthe 8 January 2020 the Compatition and Markets Authority (CMA) had issued an Initial Enforeement Order, requiring the business to conlinue to
operate separately (*I'tansitional Phase'), until the order was released on the 23 June 2020 From this date the Group was then comprised of Pre

Transaction Group and BMI (*Post Transaction Group').

The smounts recognised in respect of the identifisble assets acquired and Liabilites assumed are as set out in the table below.

Financial assets

Tnvantary

Property, plant and equipment
Identifiable intangible esseis
Finangial fiabifities

Deferred tox linbilities

Telal identifiad assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Goodwill

Total consideration

Satisfied by

Cashy

Less: cash and ¢ash equivalen balances acquired
Total consideration transferred

£4000
113,812
16,598
1,701,832
44,700
{1,757,365)
{13,372)

111,224

117,455
218,689

261,200

{32511)

238,689

CGoodwill represents the expecled synergies of combining the twa companies, and the growth expected fiture irading perfarmance of the acquired business
Tlst intangible assers of §44.7 million arising from the acquisition cansists of the Brand, consukant relatianships and software of the BMI group. Mane af

the Goodwill is expected fo be deduclible for income {ax purposes. See nate 12 for details.

Acquisilion-related costs (inctuded in administrative expenses) amount te £1 6 millior.

GHQ Healthcare Hoidings Limited contributed 4385 million revenue and £4 4 million to the Group's prafit for the period between the date of acquisition

and e reporting date.

Movemenis in net debt

Net debt cansists of cash and cash equivalents and includes leases, ioans and other borrowings.

ALl January Non-cash A3l
2121 movements Cash flow December 2021
£°000 £'000 £000 £'000
Cash at bank and on hand 115,857 - (12,942) 101,915
Cash and cash equivalents reported in assets held for sale 3.822 - (3,822) -
Cash end cash equivakents 119,479 - (16,764) 102,915
Loans and ather bomrawings (211,885) (2,153) - (214,038)
Lease Habilities {1,672,804) {14,778) 13,496 (1,674,086}
Net debit (i,765.010) (16,931} (3,268) (1,785,209
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29. Nates (0 the cash flow statement

30,

Net ¢ash flow from cperating activities

2011 2010
£'000 £'000
{Restated)”

Laoss before income tax from

Continuing operaticns (51,402} {63,244y

Loss before income tax inctuding discontinued eperatiens (51,402) (63,244
Adjustitients for:
Share of profit of assaciates (4,068) -
Mon-cash exceptional operating items (note 5) 7,391 36,626
Finance costs 137,376 134,515
Finance income (nate 8) {54 {481)
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 11) 11,805 9,388
Deprecization of right-of-use property, plan and equipment (nate 13) 64,899 65,956
Deprecialion of other praperty, plan and equipment {note 13) 28,752 26,532
LassAprofit) on disposal of fixed asscis 14,307 (2,247
Profit on disposal of subsidiary (note 26) {3,267 -
Amounts vested under LFRS 2 {note 24) 213 -
257354 272,794
Operating cashilews before movements in working capital 205,852 209,550
Mevemets in working capital:
- {Increase)/decrease in inventories (350) 258
-Decrease in drade and other receivables 58317 51,954
- Decrease in trade and other payables (27,148) {31,560)
184,392 208 203

* The prior year figures have been restated to include warking capital movemwnis relating o assets and labitities classified as held for sale When
compared to the figures presented in the prior year financial statements, the mavemenl on inventories las decreased by 663,000, (he mavement an trade
and other receivables has decreased by £4,396,000, and the movement on trade and other payables has decreased by £8,881,000

Retiremend henefit plans

Defined tantribution scheme
The Group operates defined contributian retirement benefit schemes for all its qualifring employees.

2021 2020
£°000 E'000
Tola| contribution Gosts charged 10 the inconie statement in respast
af 9,739 (2020- 8,943} members 10,037 9,364

Defined henefit schemes

‘The Company sponsors a funded defined benefit pension plan for qualifyiog UK employees, the General Healtheare Group Limited Pension and Life
Assurance Plan, The Plan is administered by GHG (DB) Pension Trusiees Limited, an independent trustee. The Trustee it required by Jaw to act in the
interest of all relevant benefciaries and arc responsible For the investment policy for the nssets and the day-to-day administranion of Ihe benefits.

Under the Plan, employees are entitled to annual pensions on retirement at age 65 for each year af service. The Plan is closed to fiture acerual. The level of
benefits accrued by members is based on the length of their Pensionable Service and their Pengionable Sataries al the earlier of the date on which they left
the Plan or the date at which the Plan closed to the future accrual of benefits.

b AR
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30. Retirement henefit plans {continued)

Profile of the plun

The Defined Benefit Gbligation (DEQ) includes benefiis for former employees and current pensioners. The Genefits under the Plan were secured by way of
an insurance cantract with Aviva in 2020, at which poini nhout 63% of the liabililies were atributable to deferred pensioners and 37% to curreat
pensioners. We have not been provided with any more recent member daia.

The Plan duration ss 2n indicator of the weighted-average time unti! henefit payments are made For the Plan as a whole, liie dwation is approximately 16
years

Risks assoviated with the plan

The Ptan has now sold most of its assets and entered into an annuity contract with Aviva. As such, many of the nisks it was previously exposed to have been
removed. [nvestment, inflation and fongevity risk are removed as Aviva are contracwually cbliged to fund members' benefits in the future. However, the
Trustee still retains the legal responsibility to pay members' benefits 16 each individual member.

Funding requirements

UK legislation requires thal pensian Plans are funded prudently. The last fundiog vauation of the Plan was carried out by a qualificd acluary as at 30
September 2018 and showed & surplus of £2 1M Now that the buy-in is complete, the Company is no longer paying deficit contributions The Plaz: ts
expected to transilion ta buy-out in the near future and there will be uo need for actuarial vaivations in the futare.

Reporting at 31 Deceppber 2021

The Liabilities of the Scheme were valued as 81 30 Seplember 2030, using a data extract pravided by the administratars far the purposes of valuing the
Denefits secured under the insurance contract, These results were projected to the valuation dale of 31 December 2021 altowing for changes in market
conditions, and differences in the financial and demographic assumplions. The present value of the Defined Renefit Obligalion was meascted using the
projected unit credit metkod.

The principal assumptions used to caloulats the liabilities under [AS 19 are as follows:

2021 2020

% %

Discount rate 20 14
Future pension increases 3 PR3
CPLinflation 286 22
RPIinflation 32 28

The Enancial assumptions reflect the natore and term of the Plan’s iahitities

Mortality rate

Pensioner life expectancy assurned as at 31 Decerber is based on the §2P tables with acaling fectors of $03% lor male deferred pensions, 100% for male
current pensioners, 91% for fermale deferred pensioners and for 5% Yor fernale current peasioners. Future improvemnents im fongevity are assumed in line
with the CM3 2020 projection model with a smoothing Factor of 7 and a lonp term rate of impravement of 1. 25% pa. Samples of the ages to which
pensioners are assumed ta liva are s follows:

2021 2020
Life expeciancy for male currently agzad 65 863 6.4
Life expectancy for female currently aged 65 892 893
376 817

Life expectancy at 65 for male currently aged 45

Life expectancy at 65 for femnale currently aged 45 908 903

St A 75 - MRS S, g < R
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30. Retivemem benehit plans (continued)

Sensitivity fo key assumptions

The key assumptions used for IAS 19 are: diseount rale, inflation aud manlality If diferent assumptions were wsed, this could have 2 materiat effect onthe
identicsl values placed on the liabilities and the insured asset, although the results you disctose would be unlikely to change. The sensitivity of the results ta

these assumptions is set out below.

Following a 0.25% decrease in the discount vate:
TIRMN At 31 December 2021
Surphus at 31 December 2021

Following n 0.25% increase in the inflation assumption:

DBGat 31 December 2021
Surplus at 31 December 2021

Following a one year increase in life expectancy:
DBO ar31 December 2021
Surplus at 31 December 2021

Present valne of obligation

At beginning of the period
Acquisition of subsidiary
Interest cost

Actuarial toss

Benefit paynients

At end of the year

Fair value af schene assets

At beginning of the period
Acquisition of subsidiary
Expected return on scheme asseis
Actuarial (lossygain

Employer contributions

Benefit payments
Adminislration expenses

Atend of the year

Asset classes of scheme assats

Change New value
L1000 £000
4,517 122,533

- 8371
2971 130,987
- 3373
5,007 123,023
- 3371
2021 2020
£'000 £000
125,593 -
- 108,253
1,721 2418
(4,028) 20,198
(3270) (5275)
118,015 125,593
2021 2020
£'000 £'000
134,011 -
- 126,320
1,839 2,841
(3,A62) 10,887
- 7
(5,270) {5,276)
(329 {808
126,389 134,001

The Plan assets are invested in the foliowing asset classes All invested assets have a quoted market velue in an active matket. None of the assets are

invested in the Company's finwscial instruments or in property accupied by, or other assets used by, the Company.

Cash instruments and sterling deposits
Cash at bank

Annuity contract

Al end of lhe year

2021 1020
£'000 £'900
8,069 8418

04 -

118,016 125,593
126,38% 134011
-yl
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3¢, Hetirement benefit pinns (cantinaed)

The reconciliation to the amount shown on the balance sheel is as follows: 2021 2020
£'000 £000

Present vehee of abligatian (L18,0L6) (125,5%3)
Fair value of scheme assets 126,389 134,011
Unrecogmised portian of' scheme assels (8.373) (8,318

Met surplus ccugeised

The net pensian charge recognised in the canselidated incame glatement is as fellows:

202 2020
£'000 £000
Administration expenses 31 808
31 808
‘The net anount recognised (s reserves is a3 fallows:
31 December 31 Drecember
2021 1020
£'000 £'000
Actuarial gawn/(loss) on schemte ebligalions - {20,198)
Actuariat (loss)/gain on scheime assets - 16,387
Moventent in unrecognised pensien surplug 31 December2021 10,113
Actuarial loss on defined benefit pensien s¢hemes £+000 808
Net effect in reserves arising from movements on fisture scheme commitment 4,028 (R08)

Ricks associated with the pian

The Plan bas now sold most of its assels and enrered inte an annuity comtracs with Aviva As snch, many of the risks it was previously exposed to have been
removed. lnvestment, inflation aud longevity risk are removed as Aviva are contractualty obliged to fund members' benefils in the future. However, loe
Trustee still retains the legal responsibility to pay members' benefits to each individual member.

Funding requirements

UK legislation requires that pension Plans are funded prudently The last funding valuation of the Pian was cawied out by & quahfied actuary as at 30
September 2018 and showed a surpius of £21 million. Now that he buy-in is complete deficit contributions is no ionger necded. The Plan is expected to
transition ta buy-aut In the near fiuture and there wiil be no need for actuarial valuations in the future.

Analysiz of gains/losses
Overall there was a total actuasial gain of £0.2 million {2620: £0.9 million loss) during the year, which is broken down as follows

Financral assumptions resulied in a gain of £5 1 million, mainly due to the increase in the discount rate assumption. This gain was partially ofiset by the
increase in the RP1 inflation assumplion and related inflation-linked increnses. Demographic assumpiions resuficd in a gain of £0 3 million, mainly due to
changes in the martality assomption, in particular updating the CMI projection medel, DBO experience resulted in a loss of £1.3 million, mainly due to
higher than expected deferred revaluation and pension increases pver the year. During the year, asset returns underperformed against the discount rate This
was entirely due to the velue of the primary agset, the insurance coniract, heing set 1o equal the value of the liabiliies.

31, Capital commitments
202t 2010
£'000 £'100
Capital commitments
Contracted for, but not provided for, scquisitian of propesty, plant and equipment 15875 12,703

32, Assets held for sale

In the priar year, as required by the CMA order refarenced in the Strategic Report, the net assels and liabilities for Circle Bath were classified as held for
sate. This hospital was sold on | June 202). Sea note 26 for detail on the profit an disposal of subsidiary.

2011 2020
£000 £7000
Fixed asssts - 21,083
Current assets - 4,671
Cash - 3,821
Total assets classified e held for sale - 29,515
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale - (25,398}
et assets of disposal group - 4,177

:

i
t
:
1
L
'
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33, Finaacial instruments and financisl risk management

The Group's operations expases ii 10 a variery of financial risks, that include market risk (inchiding interest risk and price risk}, credit aisk, liquidity nsk and
capited risk. The Group seeks to limit the pdverse effects of these risks by monitering levels of debt finance and the related finance costs, and by matching
the risks of the financing with the risk and return profiles of the assets. The risks are monitored by management throughout the year via monthly reviews of
Lhe operational performance, cashilows, and levels of deht instrumienis end overall debt levels.

Classes of financial insteaments
‘I'tie Group's financial insirumenis comprisy of Huancial asstessuch as cash, shori-term deposiis, trade and other receivables, financial Gabslities such as

bank toans, loan nores, and trade and other payables.

The following table classifies the Group's tnancial assels and liabilities in tine with [FRS 9 Financial Instruments’.

Fair value
thraugh other Fair value
compreliensive thraugh profit

intcome and less Amortised cost Total
As at 31 Dacember 1021 £900 £000 £000 £000
Financial assets
Trade and ather raceivables (note 18) . - 75,712 75,712
Cash and cash equivalents - - 102,915 [02,915
Total financial assels - - 178,627 178,627
Financial liabilities
Trade and ollter payables (note 21) - - (99,248) {99,248)
Legse linbilities (note 17) - - (1,674 ,086) {1,674,086)
Totzl financial Nabikities - - {1,773,334) {1,773,334)
As at 31 December 2020
Fipancial assets
Trade and other receivables (note 18) - - 78,515 76,515
Cash and cash equivalents - - 115,857 115,857
Total financial sssels - - 192372 191,372
Financial linhilities
Trade and other payables (note 21) - - {97,276) {87,276)
Lease liabilities (aote 17) R " (1,672,304) (1,672,804) :
Tatal Rnancial lEabifities - - (1,770,080) {£,770,680)

8) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates or other price risks, will affect the income from or the value oF financial
instruments. The objective of market risk managenient is to manage and eontrol market rigk expasure within accepiable parameters while oplimising the
retusn on risk.
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33. Financial sustruments and financial risk management {continued)

The Group is primarily impacted by interest rate tisk and other price nisks which are outhined befow: £
|3
I} [nierest rate risk !
Financial instruments af¥ected by interest rate risk include loans and olliec barrowings. The Groug is primarily sensitive ta changes in UK interest
rates. This affecls fulure cash fows fram loans and borrowings heid
i 3
Fiseil 3
£'000
Ard1 December 21ii1 ]
Loans and other borrowings (note 191 219,848
At21 December 2020 :
Loans and other borrowings {nole 19) 219,848 :
2) Other price rishs N
The Group has a number of long-term contracts contaming fixed indexation provisions The Group generally seeks ta price costracts at levels that take
account of increasing prices. As the valume of privale patignis is anficipaled to increase in Ihe Juure, the Group will be increasingly subject to pricing
changes from private insurance companies
The integrated care contracts operate under a capped revenue budget, The underlying principle assumed that the service can be run more efficiently, I
impraving patient experience and reducing operational costs, Nevertheless, the Group bears the risk of rising operational costs ns ilie baseline revenus
1 fixed subject to local demagraphic or service portfolio changes
b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the nisk if financia! foss to the Group is a customer or counter-parly 10 a fingncial instrument fails to meet #s contractual obligations, and
arises pringipally from the Group's receivable from customers and cash deposits, with their maxi P being rep d by their carrying anount.
The Group has policies with customers that require unfrant payment, where appropriate. Credit contral procedures are designed 1o ensure that invoiced H
revenue is collected according to agreed terms, that policies exist to Jimit exposure to any one party and ensure approved credit limits are revicwed c
regularly. These help ta eliminate sigmficant cunzentrations of credit risk.
Most revenues arise (rom insured patients' business and the NHS Insured patients give rise te trade receivables which are mainly due trom farge insurance
institutions, who have high credit worthiness. The remainder of revenue arises from individual self-pay patients.

In accardance watli TFRS 9, an expected credit loss made] is used te calculate the provision for impairment. This expected eredit loss lakes into
consideration the age of deblor batances, and the characteristics of the debtor. Cradil risk managemenl services are designed to try and reduce the expected
credit loss 10 1 minimurm

When utilising bank accounts and cash deposits, the Group tranyacts with countetparties who have sound credit profiles. Such coumterparties arc primarify .

lacge, highly rated financial institutions. In relatien to ! instituti the Group all; d a credit limit based on external credit ratings The
counterparty’s tatal outstanding transactions with the Group including bank accaunts and cash deposits must not exceed limits agreed by the Board of -
Directors. N

<) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will eacounter difficulty i meeting 1ts financial obligations as they fall due. The Greup's epproach 1a iguidity s to

manage short and ioog-ternt borrewings to easure that it will always have sufficient hquidity to meets its liabilities when due, withaut incurring )
I

unaceeptable lossses or risk damaging the Group's reputation K

This is achieved by robustly managing cash generation across its operation, by applying cash collection targets throughout the Group and by managing
liquidity nsk via long-term debt and equity funding from shareholders

The table befow analyses the Group's non-denivative and derivative finaucial liabililies into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at ‘}-
the balance sheet date to the contract maturity date. The amounts included in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flovs ‘

Lessthan 1 year Between 1-2 years Between 2-3 years  Between 3-5 years Over S years :
At 31 December 2021 L'oag £'90¢ £'68¢ £966 £900
Trade and other payables (note 21) (59,248} - - - -
Lease Liabilities (note 17) {126,055 (123,283) (129,746) (264,554) (3,587.243)
Leans and other borrowings (nate 19) - - - - (215,848)
Net autflows {225,303) (128,283) {129,746) (263,664) {3,807,091)
A(31 December 2020 :
Trade and other payables (note 21) {97,.276) - - - -
Lease Jiabilities (note 17) (126 266) (129,241) (132,039) (270,409) (3.713.402)
Loans and other barrowings {note 19} - - - - {21%,818)
Nat outflows {223,541) {119,241) (132,039) (170,409) {3,933,250) B
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33, Fipancial insiruments and fingucial risk managenient (continued)

3d,

35.

36,

Lease liabilities cashlows are discounted ta acrive ot the balance sheet positton per note 17. The impact of the discounting 1s £2,656.7 miltion (2020:
£2,703.6 million) aver the remaininy term of the leases.

d) Capital risk
The primary objective of the Graup's management of debt and equity is ta ensure the continued growth of the business, inclduing the financing of new

hospitals, ¢quipmant and start-up costs, including Head Office costs, in order to provide returns for the Group shareholders and other stakeholders, The
Graup raises financing when needed thraugh a combination of debt and equity

Objectives are set cut at fire beginning of each year, in ling with the imposed sequirements and cor ot the ah agr: Cavenants an the
deht facilities utilised by the Group are tested on a quarte:ly basms.

Events after the reporting period

On 25 May 2022 the Group refinanced its seniae borrowing facilities wath a new £250 million, thre year, revolving facitity. An initial ££80 million of this
facility was deaswn on this date and \his, elang with £38 million of cash on hand, was used to repay the existing senior facilities in full. The remaining
undrawn amount of £70 million remains available te the Group fo draw as required over the remaining term of the facility. The facility is guaranieed by the
Group’s ultimate parent company, Centene Cotporalion end all covenants are measured al the consalidaled Centene Carporation level The facilities
provide the Group with a flexiblz facility with a redueed borrawing cast Ne olher subsequent events requiring separate disclosure under LAS 10 were
identified after the batance sheet date.

The Directars have considered the UK Goveriment's fiscal event on 23 September 2022, including the potential impacl on UK mlarest rates, crrency
exchangs rates, inflation, and other macroesonemic impacts. The Directors have cansidered the potertial impact on the Cirele Group and these financial
statements including in respect of inflation, discount rates, pension liabilities, financial forecasts ard ather areas and do not believe that there is any
malersal adjus st or edditional disclosure required in these financial stalements.

Related party iransactions
Trading transactions

During the financial year, irading transactions with the subsidiaries listed in aote 14, oceurred througheul the year as part of the narmal zourse of business

R ation of key persenng]
Renuneration of key management pecsunnel are thase made to the Directors of the Company. Note 7 details the directors' emoluments received during the

financial year. Other than diréctors there are no other key management personnel,

Otlier transactions with related parties
Transactions with Ribera Salud Group, o subsidiary of Centene, were made during lhe year totalling £1,226,000 (2020: £330,000) These costs related to

consullancy services received,
Cuntrolling party

The Directors regard MH Services International (UK) Limited, a Company registered in England and Wales, as the Company's immediate parent
undes taking and controlling party, as at the 31 December 2021, The Directors regard Centene Corporation 28 the Company's ultimate parent undertaking as
at the 31 December 2021,

MH Services Internatranal Holdings (UK) Limited is the parent undertakung of the smallest and Jargest group for which < lidated financial st
are prepared that include the financial statemenis of the Company Capies of the group financial statements for MH Services Intemational Holdings (UK}
Linsted may be oblained from 108 High Street, Great Missenden, HP16 0BG
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Fixed assets
Investments
Loans to group companies

Current asscts
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within ane year
Net current liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium
Accumulated losses

Teotal shareholder's funds

Notes

10
16

31 December

31 December

2021 2020
£:000 £000
75211 75,211
121,714 125,736
196,935 200,047
90,005 2,714
14,964 5,049
104,969 7,763
(116,699) (21,057)
(11,730) (13,299
183,195 187,631
21 21
201,476 201,476
(16,302) (13,844)
185,195 187.653

The Company has taken advantage of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own
income statement in these financial statements. The loss made by the Company for the ycar was £2.7 million

(2020: £1.2 million loss).

The financial statemengs of Circle Health Heldings Limited werc approved by the board of dircctors and

authorised for issue onQ, September 2022.

They were signed on its behalf by:

Moo Do

Name: Henry Davies
Djrector

The accompanying notes form part of these financial stalements.

The company's registered address is 1st Floor, 30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6X1, England.
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Campany Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2021
Called up Share Accumulated
share capital premimn Tosses Total
£000 £000 £400 £'000

Balance as at 31 December 2019 21 75,391 (11,447) 63,995
Shares issued (note 10) - 126,085 - 126,085
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - (2,427) (2,427)
Balance as at 31 December 2020 21 201,476 (13,844) 187,653
Amounts vested under IFRS 2 {note 10) - - 213 213
L.oss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - (2,671) (2,671)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 21 201,476 {16,302) 185,195
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1 Accounting policies

The Company's accounting policies are included within those disclased on pages 25 to 34 of the Circle Health Holdings Limited consehidated group
financial statements.

2 Critical accounting judgements and key souvces of estimation uncertainty

Tn the application of the Group's and Company’s accounting policies, judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered 1o be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The judgements and estimates that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements, and could have a
material impact on the finaneial statements in the following year, include.

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies

There are not deemed to be any critical judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Company's accounting policies in the financial R
sialements. i

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions and estimates at the end of the reporting period, thal have a significant risk of causing a material adjustmenl to the carrying amounls

of the assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Investmients
Investments are recognised at cost less accumulaled amortisation and impairment lasses. The carrying amount of investments is ssessed annually, and the

useful lives of invesiments are considered o be indefinite. [n the event that this estimate is inaccurate, the recoverable amount and consequently the
carrying value of investments may be impacted.

Receivables
Receivables are recognised at cost less provision for dauhtful debts. The carrying aniount of reccivables is assessed annually, and provisions recognised
based on the customer specific circumstances. In the event that this estimate is inaccurate, the recoverable amount and consequently the carrying valus of

receiables may be impacted.

3 Profit and loss
The result for the year 1s a loss of £2.7 million {2020: £1.2 miliion toss). !

The Company has taken advantage of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own income statement in these financial statements,

4 Qperating costs
The Company incurred £5,000 it relation to UK subutory audit fees for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: £5,000)
5 Employees

Other than the Directors, the entity did not have any employces during the year (2020; nil), and therefore did not incur any staff costs duriag the year
(2020: Enil).

6 Directors’ entoluments

Please refer to the Directors' emoluments note in the Circle Health Holdings Limited consolidared group financial statements (nole 7).
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7 Investmenis
Shares in subsidiary undertakings
£000
Cost
At 3! December 2020 and 31 December 2021 75,211
Net bogk amount at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021 75,211

The Ditcclons consider Lat the value of the Company's fixed asset investments, which are listed below, is supported by their underlying asscls. Mo
pravision for impairment of investments has been made for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020 £nil).
The Company has investmenls in the following subsidiary undertakings, associates and other investments.

Cumpany name Pr?[’ml‘.mn of Share class Repgistered office Nature of business
yoting vights beld

Circle International plc 100% Holding
Circle Health T.imited 100% Holding and management
Mationg Healthcare Limited 100% Holding
Circle Nottinghamn Limited 100% Medical practice services
Circle Haspital (Reading) Limited 100% Medical practice services
Circle Birmingham Limiled 100% Medical practice services
Circle Rehabilitation Services Limited 100% Medical practice services
Cirele Health | Limited 100% Holding
Circle Health 2 Limited 100% Holding
Circle Health 3 Limited 106% Holding
Circle Health 4 Limited 100% Holding
GHG Healtheare Holdings Limited 100% Halding
Bishopswoad SPV Limited 100% Provision of heaithcare services
Circle Ifealth Group Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
BMI Hogpital Decontumination Limited  100% Provision of decontamination services
BMT Syon Clinic Limited 508 Lst Floor 30 Cannon Provision of healthcare services
BMI Imaging, C]ir.lic Limileq o 50% Ordivary shares Street, Prov!'s‘ian of healthteare senn:ces
BMI Santhend Private Hospital Limited  50% London, England, Provision of healthcare services
Meridsn Hl?sm(al Advanced Imaging 56% ECAM &XH Provision of healthcare services
Centre Limited
Three Shires Hospital LLP 50% Provision of healthcare services
General Healthcare Holdings (2) Limited  100% Investment holding
General Healthears Holdings (3) Limited  100% Inveshnent holding
GHG (DR) Pension Trustees Limited 100% Pension funding
GHG Intermediate [Toldings Limited 100% Tnvestment holding
GHG Leasing Limited 10% Provision of healthcare services
Naosth West Cancer Clinic Limited 90% Provision of healthcare services
Runnymede SPV Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
South Cheshire PV Limiied 0% Provision of healthcare services
GHG Mount Alvernia Hospital Limited 100% Investment holding
Generale de Sante International Limited 100% Invesiment holding
Circle Clinical Services Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
TKH Holding Lid {00% Holding
Circle Health MyWay Limited 100% Health plan subscription seryices

30 Cliff Court, Cliff Road,
Circle Harmony Health Limited 50% Ordinary shares ~ Londen, England, NW1  Management services

SAD

[2 Castle Street,
Circle Holdings Limited * 100% Ordinery shares S 11elier, Jarscy, Holding

Channel Istands,

JE2 3RT

Rm 905-906, 9/F Houston
Circle Harmony Health Limited 50% Ocdinary shares  Cl, 63 Mody Road, TST, Management services

KEN, Hong Kong
Rm1145, 1 1/F, Carltan
. . Bldg, No.21 Hoanghe
0% Ordinary shares  goag Huangpu District,
Shanghai, China

Shanghai Circle Harmony Hospital
Management Limited

Management services

* Cirele Heldings Limited has a UX establishmem named Circle Holdings (UK) Limited

All cornpanies listed above are currently active.
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8

10

Debtars - amounts falling due within one year

31 Pecember 2021

31 Decembey 2020

£'000 £°300
Debtors 42 2618
Prepayments gnd acerued income 319 96
Amounts owed by group subsidiaries 89,644 -
90,005 2,714

Amounts owed by Group subsidiaries arz unsecured, interest free, have no fixed dalte of repayment and are repayable an demand.

Debtors - amounts falling in more than one year

31 December 2021
£'000

Amounts owed by group subsidianies 121,714

Amounts ewed by Group subsidiaries are unsecursd, interest free, have no fived date of repayment and are repayable on demand.

Creditoys - amaunts falling due within one year

31 December 2021

31 December 2020
£7000

125,736

31 December 2020

£000 £:000
Trade and other creditors 2 5,374
Amounts owed to group undertakings 116,413 13,238
Accruals and deferred income 254 1,293
116,699 19,905

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repaymenis and are repayable on demand.

Share capital and share premium

Refer to note 24 in the graup financial accounts far the details of share capital and share premium,

i
!
!
!
0
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11

12

Lvents after the reporting pevied

There were no events afer the balance sheet date that have materially impacted vpon the financial statemenrs of the Company. Refer lo note 34 in the
Group accounts for further details.

Related party transactions

Transactions with Ribera Salud Group, a subsidiary of Centene, were made during the year totalling £499,060 (2020: £330,000) These costs related to
consiltancy sarvices received

The Company has taken advaniage of the exemption from disclosing ransactions with other members of the Group headed by Circle Health Holdings
Limited, provided that each party 1o the transaction is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

The Directors regard MH Services International {(UK) Limited, a Company registered in England and Wales, s the Company's immediate parent
undertaking and controliing party, as at the 31 December 2021 The Directors regard Centenc Carporation as the Company's ultimate parent undertaking as

at the 31 December 2021,

MH Services Inlernational Holdings (UK} Limited is the parent undertaking af the smallest and largest group for whicl consolidated financial statements
are prepared that include the financial statements of the Company. Copies of the group financial statements for MH Services Internationai Holdings (UK)
Linvited may be abtained from 108 High Street, Great Missenden, HP 16 0BG,



